
 

Agenda - Health, Social Care and Sport Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 2 - The Senedd 

Meeting date: 9 May 2018 

Meeting time: 09.15

For further information contact: 

Claire Morris 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6355  

SeneddHealth@assembly.wales
------ 

Informal pre-meeting (09.15 - 09.30)  

 

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 

interest 

(09.30)   

2 Older People’s Commissioner for Wales: Scrutiny of Legacy report 

(09.30 - 10.30) (Pages 1 - 106)  

Sarah Rochira, Older People’s Commissioner for Wales 

 

Research brief 

Paper 1 – Legacy Report (Driving Change for Older People) 

Paper 2 – Impact and Reach Report 2017-18 

3 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 

public from the remainder of the meeting 

(10.30)   

4 Older People’s Commissioner for Wales: Scrutiny of Legacy report: 

Consideration of evidence 

(10.30 - 10.40)   

5 Forward Work Programme 

(10.40 - 11.30) (Pages 107 - 118)  

Paper 3 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Driving Change for 
Older People

Impact and Reach 2012-18

An independent voice and champion 
for older people

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee 
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 10



The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales
The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales is an independent voice 
and champion for older people across Wales. The Commissioner and 
her team work to ensure that older people have a voice that is heard, 
that they have choice and control, that they don’t feel isolated or 
discriminated against and that they receive the support and services 
that they need.

The Commissioner and her team work to ensure that Wales is a good 
place to grow older, not just for some but for everyone.

How to contact the Commissioner:
The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales
Cambrian Buildings
Mount Stuart Square
Cardiff 
CF10 5FL

Phone:	 03442 640 670
Email:	 ask@olderpeoplewales.com
Website:	 www.olderpeoplewales.com
Twitter: 	 @talkolderpeople

Accessible Formats
If you would like this publication in an alternative format and/or 
language, please contact us. All publications are also available to 
download and order in a variety of formats from our website. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 11



3       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Contents

Foreword 04

A life that has value, meaning and purpose 06

Reaching out and listening to older people across Wales 08

Driving up the quality of – and availability and access to – health 
and social care

13

Standing up for people at risk of harm and ensuring that they are 
safeguarded and protected

27

Tackling prejudice and discrimination 35

Protecting and improving community services, facilities and 
infrastructure

41

Embedding the wellbeing of older people at the heart of public 
services

47

Ageing Well in Wales 52

Influencing policy, legislation and practice 56

Looking Forward 58

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 12



4       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Foreword
I often find it hard to believe that I took up post as Older People’s Commissioner for 
Wales six years ago, in June 2012. The years have simply flown by and I have been 
proud to stand up and speak out on behalf of older people across Wales as their 
independent voice and champion. 

During the past six years, I have met and spoken with thousands of older people 
across Wales, who have generously shared so much with me about their lives, their 
experiences, and their hopes and wishes for the future. 

The voices of older people in all of their diversity have guided and shaped the wide 
range of work I have undertaken as Commissioner during the past six years, which 
is set out in this Legacy Report, which is being published alongside my annual 
Impact and Reach Report.

When I took up post as Commissioner, I was clear that the debate around the issues 
that affect older people was too often being framed incorrectly. There was little focus 
on quality of life, wellbeing and outcomes, older people’s rights were not being fully 
considered by policy and decision makers, and issues that affect older people that 
fall outside of health and social care were often not seen as a priority, despite their 
vital importance. 

Furthermore, older people were too often seen as a homogenous group, a group 
apart who were excluded from society, with negative imagery and language 
commonly being used that reinforced stereotypes and assumptions, particularly 
those around frailty, decline and dependence. 

As a result of my work over the past six years, and the tireless work of many others 
across Wales to improve the lives of older people, there has been a significant shift 
in policy, legislation, regulations and practice based on providing a more person-
centred, outcomes-focused and preventative approach. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 13



5       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

This is to be welcomed, of course, but there is no room for complacency and 
still much more to be done. Many of the issues faced by older people that I have 
highlighted and reported on during my time as Commissioner have developed over 
considerable periods of time and require significant and ongoing work to resolve. 
That is why follow-up work and continuous monitoring and scrutiny of policy 
and practice is essential and has been a key part of my work. In a landscape of 
competing priorities and challenges, it is vital that the promises and commitments 
made by public bodies to take action and deliver change are made real for older 
people.  

It has been a real privilege to have been the Older People’s Commissioner for 
Wales over the past six years, a time in which there has been much positive change 
for older people. I would like to thank my team, the stakeholders I have worked with 
and, most importantly, older people across Wales who have supported me and my 
work to make Wales a good place to grow older, not just for some but for everyone.

Sarah Rochira
Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 14



6       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

A life that has value, meaning and 
purpose
When I took up post as Commissioner in June 2012, I was clear that the voices 
of older people would be at the heart of my work and would guide and shape my 
priorities. 

I began an extensive programme of engagement with older people across Wales, 
meeting and speaking with them not only in formal settings, such as 50+ Forum 
meetings, but in the places they go and the places they live their lives, such as 
social clubs, day centres, carers groups, dementia cafes, community events, care 
homes and extra housing schemes. 

In examining what older people had told me about their experiences of growing older 
– both good and bad – it was clear that they rarely talked about services or systems, 
but rather the importance of being safe, as healthy and independent as possible, 
and living lives that have value meaning and purpose. These are the factors that 
older people feel determine whether or not they have a good quality of life and were 
used as the basis for my Quality of Life Model:

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 15



7       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Using my Quality of Life Model, together with information gathered via my Casework 
Team and stakeholders working with and for older people, I developed five key 
priorities, published in my Framework for Action, which would underpin my work as 
Commissioner:

•	 	Driving up the quality of – and availability and access to – health and social 
care

•	 	Standing up for older people who are at risk of harm and ensuring that they are 
safeguarded and protected

•	 	Tackling prejudice, inequality and discrimination

•	 	Protecting and improving community services, facilities and infrastructure

•	 	Embedding the wellbeing of older people at the heart of public services 

These priorities were used to develop my annual published work programmes, 
which set out the work I would undertake each year as Commissioner to drive 
change and improvements on behalf of older people across Wales.  

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 16



Reaching out and listening to older 
people across Wales

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 17



9       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Engagement Roadshow

Reaching out and listening to older people across Wales through my engagement 
roadshow is an essential part of my work as Commissioner. This engagement not 
only allows me to share information about my role and the ways in which I can 
provide assistance and support to older people, but also, just as importantly, allows 
me to hear directly from older people about the things that matter to them and the 
challenges they face, which is essential to guide and shape my work and ensure 
that their voices are at the heart of all that I do. 

Since 2012, my team and I have met with over 1,000 groups, engaging with over 
28,000 older people in settings such as social clubs, day centres, support groups, 
dementia cafes, care homes, extra care housing settings, forum meetings and 
information days. During this period, my team and I travelled over 100,000 miles 
to reach out to and engage with older people across Wales – the equivalent of 
travelling four times around the world. 

In planning my engagement with older people, I ensured that I met with older 
people in all of their diversity, capturing the voices of people who are seldom heard. 
This is vital to ensure that the experiences of older people from a wide variety of 
backgrounds are reflected throughout and inform my work. To support this approach, 
I have worked with a wide range of organisations that work on behalf of people with 
protected characteristics, including Race Equality First, Diverse Cymru, People First, 
the Dementia Engagement and Empowerment Network (DEEP), the North Wales 
Regional Equality Network, Men’s Sheds, Action on Hearing Loss, Mind Cymru and 
Parkinsons UK. 

Furthermore, to ensure that those who make policy and decisions hear directly 
from older people about their experiences and the challenges that growing older 
can bring, I have arranged many joint visits with Assembly Members, MPs, 
Council Leaders and Councillors across Wales since 2012. These visits provided 
opportunities for older people to have their voices heard, discuss the issues that 
matter to them and suggest ways in which improvements to the services they often 
rely on could be delivered. 

Wider Engagement

Alongside my engagement roadshow, I have also worked with formal organisations 
that represent older people and their interests, such as the National Pensioners’ 
Convention, Active Wales, Cymru Older People’s Alliance and the Ministerial 
Advisory Forum on Ageing, as well as with older people’s 50+ forums across Wales.

I have also worked with a wide range of public bodies in Wales, including Health 
Boards, Local Authorities, Public Services Boards, Wales Audit Office, Public Health 
Wales and National Trading Standards, as well as with third sector organisations 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 18



10       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

and independent care home providers, delivering keynote speeches at conferences 
and events, and meeting with key individuals within these organisations.  

In addition to growing knowledge and understanding about the challenges that 
older people in Wales face, the issues that affect their lives and their experiences 
of growing older, this work also allows me to promote good practice and identify 
opportunities for joint working to drive change on behalf of older people and improve 
their lives. 

Casework support to individuals

My powers under the Commissioner for Older People (Wales) Act 2006 allow me 
to provide direct support and assistance to older people, which I deliver through my 
dedicated Casework Team. 

Older people and their families from across Wales contact me when they require 
support to challenge the decision-making and practice of public bodies, when they 
feel that their voices are not being heard, often in the most difficult and distressing of 
circumstances. My Casework Team offers information, advice and guidance to help 
them to negotiate complex policies, processes and frameworks, intervening on their 
behalf where necessary (subject to their consent). 

My Casework Team has provided assistance and support to thousands of older 
people and their families across Wales since 2012, many of which were protracted 
and complex in nature, particularly where safeguarding and protection issues were 
identified.

People contact me about a very wide range of issues, including treatment and 
care in hospital and residential care settings; financial issues such as cross-
organisational funding disputes, incorrect charging of fees, or non-payment of 
financial entitlements; housing issues ranging from accessing home adaptations, 
home safety, evictions and couples being separated; best interest decisions 
covering a range of matters; waiting times for services; domestic abuse and 
safeguarding; and failures to prosecute.  

Everyone who contacts me is unique, as are their needs and the circumstances in 
which they find themselves, and the approach I take when providing them support 
through my casework team reflects this. 

However, whilst the issues that people contact me about are unique, they are often 
underpinned by a number of cross-cutting, common themes that can create issues 
and difficulties for older people:

•	 	Public body policies and procedures can be complex and challenging to 
people unfamiliar with them, often intensifying the stress they are under and 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 19



11       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

causing great anxiety. Inflexible processes and a lack of integrated working 
can create barriers to securing desired outcomes and leave people feeling 
that the policies are designed to benefit organisations, not the individual. Life 
rarely follows a predesigned path and older people tell me that organisational 
processes and procedures are not clear or transparent, and that issues which 
can and should be resolved quickly can go on for unacceptably long periods of 
time.  

•	 	Communication is often ineffective and consultation often feels meaningless, 
leaving individuals feeling powerless and ignored. 

•	Public bodies and decision makers often do not understand the impact of 
decisions made, the ways decisions are made and the impact that they will 
have upon people’s lives, particularly the extent to which the way decisions 
are made can lead to individuals losing their sense of identity and self-worth. 
Older people all too often say that they are not treated as equal partners, 
are excluded from decision making processes, have limited and untimely 
communication and feel as if the ‘shutters’ have come down. They also 
feel that their perspective is not given sufficient weight within the decision-
making process. The issues considered by older people or their families to be 
important are often minimalized by professionals and as a consequence older 
people often experience frustration through the lack of inclusion and insight. 

•	There is little understanding, or practical application, of human rights or a 
rights-based approach, despite the duties placed upon public bodies under 
the Human Rights Act 1998 and the Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) 
Act 2014.  This often leads to poor decision making and places vulnerable 
people at risk of harm. I have been consistently clear that a full and proper 
understanding and application of a rights-based approach leads to better 
decision making, prevents harm and supports dispute resolution. Denial of 
a right to family life, free association, and liberty, as well as degrading and 
inhuman treatment, all feature in my case work.

•	Whilst there can be a fine line between poor care and criminal care, public 
bodies are not always robust enough in their referral to the police and, in 
some cases, the criminal law is not fully understood. Whilst older people do 
not automatically want this to be pursued, they do not want it excluded without 
proper consideration.  A strong sense of a desire for justice and accountability 
often runs through the issues that people raise with me, alongside a desire to 
ensure that others do not suffer the same fate.

When examining all of the themes set out above, it is clear that individuals often 
face a significant power imbalance when raising issues and complaints with public 
bodies. This is one of the reasons that the role of independent advocacy is so crucial 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 20



12       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

to the delivery of public services within Wales. I have been consistently clear about 
the value and importance of investing in independent advocacy, which provides 
people with an independent safeguard that can support them in understanding the 
choices available to them, making decisions and representing their experiences, 
wishes and feelings to decision-making bodies, protecting their rights and 
representing their interests. The value of independent advocacy in safeguarding 
older people from harm should not be underestimated. 

Furthermore, my casework, and the themes identified through this work, 
demonstrates that public bodies are often not good at learning from their mistakes 
or using people’s voices and experiences to underpin and drive continuous service 
improvement.

The issues and themes identified through my casework are also used to inform my 
wider work and priorities as Commissioner, and allow me to provide strong evidence 
to public bodies about the ways in which practice needs to change to improve older 
people’s experiences, supporting my wider work to influence policy and the ways in 
which public services are provided across Wales. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 21



13       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Driving up the quality of – and 
availability and access to – health and 
social care

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 22



14       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Care Home Review

Having visited care homes across Wales, I have seen for myself many examples of 
excellent care and have met many dedicated staff. 

However, I also recognised that there were unacceptable variations in the quality of 
life and care of older people living in care homes. During 2013-14, I also received an 
increasing amount of correspondence regarding the quality of life and care of older 
people living in care homes. 

I therefore announced in May 2013 that I would use my legal powers, under Section 
3 of the Commissioner for Older People (Wales) Act, to undertake a formal Review 
into the quality of life and care of older people living in care homes in Wales, the 
biggest review of its kind ever undertaken. 

Gathering Evidence

I officially launched my Review in October 2013 and called upon older people across 
Wales, as well as their friends and families, to share their experiences of residential 
and nursing care. 

I worked with a wide range of stakeholders, including older people’s groups and 50+ 
Forums, to distribute a detailed questionnaire that captured information relating to a 
number of factors, including physical and psychological health, social relationships, 
the care home environment and spirituality. There was an outstanding response to 
the questionnaire, with over 2,000 responses received, double the original target of 
1,000. 

I also called for evidence from the bodies subject to my Review, as well as third 
sector organisations, professional bodies and social care experts, to gather 
additional information about the mechanisms in place to safeguard the interests 
of older people living in care homes and promote their quality of life, any areas of 
particular concern and to capture examples of good practice. 

In addition to gathering this written evidence, I also ran a series of formal evidence 
sessions with public bodies and stakeholders, as well as a series of engagement 
events and focus groups across Wales to capture the experiences of families of 
people living in care homes and those with protected characteristics, whose voices 
are seldom heard. 

In order to speak directly with older people and hear first-hand about their quality of 
life and care, and their everyday experiences of living in a care home, I undertook 
an extensive series of unannounced visits to care homes across Wales, visiting 101 
homes in total. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 23



15       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Review Findings

Published in November 2014, my Review findings were clear: whilst there were 
some excellent examples of truly person-centred care being delivered in parts of 
Wales, there were significant variations that resulted in too many older people living 
in care homes having an unacceptable quality of life. Too many older people living in 
care homes were no longer able to do the things that matter to them, lost meaningful 
choice and control over their lives, had their emotional needs neglected and did not 
have their basic rights upheld. 

My findings also showed that the care being delivered in many care homes often 
failed to meet the needs of individuals and too often focused on a one-size-fits-all 
task-based approach, which was having a negative impact upon older people’s 
quality of life. 

My Review report – A Place to Call Home? – included a series of Requirements for 
Action, which clearly outlined the change required across a range of areas, to drive 
up the quality of life and care in care homes. 

The public bodies and care providers subject to my Review were required to provide 
a written response within three months, detailing the action they would take to meet 
my requirements. In analysing these responses, my team and I were looking for 
clear evidence that actions that were underway or planned would deliver long-term 
change for older people living in care homes in Wales, with quality of life at the heart 
of the care home system. 

The responses from Health Boards and Local Authorities set out the action they 
would take to would deliver the required outcomes for older people and detailed a 
wide range of work that would make a positive difference to the quality of life of care 
home residents. 

However, initial submissions from the Welsh Government and CSSIW did not 
provide me with the assurances I needed that appropriate action would be taken 
at a strategic level to ensure that older people living in care homes would have the 
best possible quality of life. They were therefore required to provide further written 
evidence, to provide me with the assurances I needed that they would deliver the 
outcomes set out in my Review report. 

Once I had been provided with the assurances I needed, I made clear that I would 
be closely monitoring delivery and would undertake a programme of follow-up work 
to ensure that the action promised is underway and improved outcomes are being 
delivered. This work began in February 2017 and is described below. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 24



16       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Care Home Review Follow-up work

When I published the findings of my Care Home Review in 2014, I was clear that 
too many older people living in care homes in Wales had an unacceptable quality 
of life and that significant change was required to ensure that quality of life for older 
people was placed at the heart of our care home system, across care delivery, 
commissioning, regulation and inspection.

Following the publication of my findings, which were welcomed by all of the bodies 
subject to my Review, I sought assurances that they would take forward the action 
needed across a wide range of areas, as set out in the Requirements for Action I 
published alongside my findings, to deliver the change and improvements that older 
people and their families told me they wanted to see. 

Having received these assurances, I was clear that I would be closely monitoring 
the ways in which my Requirements for Action were being implemented, and that 
I would undertake a programme of detailed follow-up work, through which I would 
seek further evidence that progress was being made in a number of key areas. 

My ongoing monitoring work and engagement with public bodies showed that good 
progress was being made in many areas, through new legislation, regulations and 
guidance; new values-based and rights-based inspection frameworks; new training 
frameworks for social care staff; and a wide range of local initiatives. Furthermore, 
it was clear that those working across the care home sector were beginning to think 
differently about residential care, with a far greater focus on the quality of life of older 
people. 

However, I was also concerned that there did not appear to be visible action across 
Wales in relation to a number of key areas. I therefore wrote to public bodies to 
request evidence regarding the action they had taken in relation to a number of 
specific areas: 

•	 	Continence
•	 	Reablement and rehabilitation
•	 	Falls prevention
•	 	Dementia training
•	 	Befriending
•	 	Anti-psychotic medication
•	 	Medication reviews
•	 	Quality of Life and engagement
•	 	Integrated inspection, governance and transparency
•	 	Public information
•	 	Workforce planning and nursing career pathways

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 25



17       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Whilst I recognised that many of these areas are complex and will take time to 
address fully, I expected to see evidence of leadership, ambition and progress, 
alongside a clear understanding of why quality of life and a focus on outcomes are 
so important for older people. 

To support public bodies in providing this evidence, and to ensure they were clear 
about the type of information and the level of detail I required, I shared a ‘model 
answer’ with them, along with a set of high-level judgement criteria, which set out 
what their responses should include. Public bodies also had an opportunity to share 
examples of good practice, some of which were included within my follow-up report. 

My team and I undertook a detailed analysis of the evidence provided, looking at the 
progress made against my Requirements for Action and identifying any areas where 
further work was needed. Individual feedback was provided to each public body 
(available in full on my website) and I set out my overall findings in ‘A Place to Call 
Home: Impact and Analysis’, which was published in January 2018. 

The report made clear that whilst some positive progress had been made by Health 
Boards and Local Authorities, with a wide range of new activity underway across 
Wales as a result of my Review, many still needed to do much more to provide me 
with the assurances I needed that they will deliver the change required to fulfil the 
commitments they made in response to my 2014 Review. 

The evidence provided by the Welsh Government, however, failed to demonstrate 
sufficient progress and action in a number of key areas – such as continence care, 
falls prevention and workforce planning – where leadership and a national approach 
is needed to drive meaningful cultural change, ensure greater accountability and 
promote the more effective use of evidence-based good practice. 

Alongside the publication of my follow-up report, I wrote to the Welsh Government, 
Health Boards and Local Authorities, setting out my expectations that the feedback 
I had provided would be discussed at Board/Cabinet level and that they would 
provide a response in writing stating what further actions and commitments had 
been agreed. 

I also made clear that there needed to be a renewed focus from the Welsh 
Government, Health Boards and Local Authorities on taking meaningful action to 
deliver upon the commitments they made, and that a failure to do so will mean that 
our care home system is unable to meet the changing care and support needs of 
older people and, more importantly will mean that too many older people living in 
care homes continue to have an unacceptable quality of life. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 26



18       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Care Home Provider Seminars

When I undertook my care home Review, I identified some excellent practice that 
helps to ensure that older people living in care homes can have the best possible 
quality of life.

Through my engagement with care home providers throughout the Review process, 
it became clear that they would welcome opportunities to find out more about the 
good practice highlighted in my report and the practical things they could do to 
improve the quality of life of residents. 

I therefore held a series of 12 seminars across Wales, which focused on the 
following themes and topics:

•	 	Fully engaging with residents to drive up quality (delivered in partnership with 
My Home Life Cymru)

•	 	Understanding dementia: shared learning and best practice (delivered in 
partnership with the Care Council for Wales)

•	 	Creating welcoming environments for residents and families (delivered in 
partnership with Care Forum Wales)

•	 	Magic moments in care homes and how to make them happen (delivered in 
partnership with Swansea University’s School of Social Care Research)

•	 	Getting the best out of the dining experience in care homes (delivered in 
partnership with My Home Life Cymru)

•	 	Magic Moments – embracing joy, love and laughter in our care homes for 
residents, families, friends and staff (delivered in partnership with Taith and 
Credu)

•	 	Is being human a ‘Risky Business’? Balancing the benefi ts and the risks 
of enabling people living with dementia to spend time outside (delivered in 
partnership with Dementia Adventure)

The seminars, which were attended by over 350 participants, allowed a wide range 
of good practice, focused upon quality of life, to be shared by care home providers, 
and for new and innovative approaches to care delivery to be explored. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 27



19       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Dignified Care? Follow-up work

The ‘Dignified Care?’ Review, published in 2011, demonstrated that the treatment of 
some older people in hospitals in Wales was shamefully inadequate and included a 
series of recommendations for Health Boards and the Welsh Government to deliver 
the fundamental change required. 

When I took up post in 2012, I was clear that I would undertake a programme of 
follow-up work to ensure that significant and sustained change was being delivered 
at ward level. I focused in particular on three areas:

•	 	Whether improving dignity was being taken seriously

•	 	Whether action was being taken to bring about improvements

•	 	Whether there was a tangible change in the patient experience at ward level

My ‘one year on’ assessment of the progress made by Health Boards and the 
Welsh Government found that, as a result of the Review, dignity and respect had 
been given Tier 1 status within the NHS in Wales, giving them greater priority in the 
delivery of healthcare. Furthermore, there was evidence of other significant work 
underway, including improved staff training, the reintroduction of matrons in some 
hospitals and using volunteers more effectively. 

However, Health Boards were unable to provide me with the evidence I needed to 
be assured that there had been sufficient change at ward level and in the patient 
experience. Further work was also needed to improve continence care and provide 
better support for patients with dementia. 

I therefore made clear that I would undertake further follow-up work to ensure that 
the required change was being delivered at all levels, from board level to hospital 
wards. 

I therefore gathered further evidence in 2013 to assess the actions now underway 
and the impact they were having upon hospital patients. This evidence, together 
with information provided by older people about their experiences of hospital care, 
formed the basis of my Dignified Care: Two Years On progress report, which was 
published in September 2013.

The evidence showed that, overall, all 12 of the recommendations were now being 
taken seriously and that action was underway across Wales to improve the quality of 
patient care and ensure that older people are treated with dignity and respect. 

I also held a roundtable meeting with the Chief Executives and Chairs of Health 
Boards, and the Health Minister, making clear my expectation that significant further 
progress would be made across a range of key areas to ensure that all older people 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 28



20       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

in hospitals in Wales are treated with dignity and respect. I also made clear that 
there must be a zero tolerance approach towards failures and that the experiences 
of patients must be captured and acted upon much more effectively. 

It was agreed that future reporting against the areas where further improvement was 
required would be delivered through the Annual Quality Statements published by 
Health Boards, which I review on an annual basis.

Dementia: more than just memory loss

In 2015, I commissioned Age Cymru to undertake research on my behalf to capture 
the voices and experiences of older people living with dementia and those who care 
for them and identify the kinds of services, support, information and advice that 
would make a positive difference to their lives. 

This research, which included focus group sessions and individual interviews held 
across Wales, formed the basis of my Dementia: more than just memory loss report, 
published in March 2016. 

The report showed that there was a lack of knowledge and understanding of 
dementia, both amongst professionals and wider society, and that dementia 
services often lacked the flexibility to effectively meet the needs of people living 
with dementia and those who care for them. Furthermore, it showed that a lack of 
cooperation between services created unnecessary difficulties and barriers, and that 
the quality of services varied significantly.

The report set out a number of actions that needed to be delivered to address 
the issues identified by the research, including work to ensure that primary care 
services are more dementia supportive and their practice better reflects the needs 
of people living with dementia and their carers; training for staff to ensure they have 
sufficient knowledge and understanding to respond to the needs of a person living 
with dementia in an appropriate and sensitive manner that protects their dignity and 
minimises distress; and greater post-diagnosis support, including an accessible 
single point of contact to provide information and advice on the services and support 
available. 

Following the publication of the report, I wrote to public service leaders across 
Wales, seeking assurances that the required change would be delivered for people 
living with dementia, and their carers. Regional Partnership Boards subsequently 
provided written responses to me, setting out the action they would take to deliver 
this change. 

The responses showed that whilst the recommendations included within the report 
were being taken seriously and influencing the development of practice across 
Wales, there were still a number of areas in which further work was needed – 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 29



21       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

particularly with regard to arrangements for respite care, training for health and 
social care staff and engaging effectively with people living with dementia, and their 
carers – to drive improvements. 

Detailed feedback was therefore provided to Regional Partnership Boards, both in 
writing and at subsequent face-to-face meetings, to ensure that there was a clear 
understanding of the gaps that needed to be addressed. I also developed a checklist 
to support public bodies to be more dementia supportive, along with a series of 
questions that could be used to scrutinise board members within Health Boards and 
Local Authorities. 

Furthermore, based on my findings and the responses from the Regional 
Partnership Boards, I also shared a number of high-level observations with the 
Welsh Government, in order to inform the development of the National Dementia 
Strategy. 

Rethinking Respite for People Affected by Dementia

My ‘Dementia: more than just memory loss report’, which was published in 2016, 
gave a voice to people living with dementia and their carers, and found that, despite 
progress in recent years, there is still a lack of knowledge and understanding of 
dementia within society, and that services often lack the flexibility to effectively meet 
people’s needs, creating unnecessary challenges and barriers. 

One of the key issues highlighted within the report by people living with dementia 
and their carers was the importance of being able to access high-quality, flexible 
respite services that provided a positive experience for both the carer and the 
person being cared for and did not simply focus on breaks apart. 

Given the importance of respite, and its links to other key issues such as 
safeguarding and health and well-being, I began a programme of work in 2017-18 to 
look at issues related to respite in more detail and influence the ways in which it is 
thought about and delivered. 

In addition to reviewing the current research and literature on respite and calling for 
examples of good practice, I also undertook a series of discussion sessions across 
Wales to hear directly from people living with dementia and their carers. 

These sessions, which were delivered with support from My Home Life Cymru, were 
held in Briton Ferry, Cardiff, Chepstow, Llandrindod Wells, Pontypridd, Porthmadog 
and St. Clears. 123 individuals took part in these sessions, sharing their experiences 
of using respite services, including any challenges and/or barriers they faced 
in accessing these services, and the ways in which respite services should be 
improved. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 30



22       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

A wide range of topics were discussed during the sessions, including the quality, 
flexibility and choice of respite services; accessing information, advice and 
advocacy; the activities available within respite services; and other issues such as 
safeguarding, positive risk taking, building and maintaining relationships, diversity 
and transport. 

The views shared at these sessions, as well as the information gathered through 
the literature review and good practice submissions, will be used as the basis for my 
Rethinking Respite report, which will be published in April 2018. The report will make 
clear the action that needs to be taken to improve respite services and deliver the 
outcomes that people living with dementia and their carers said they want and need 
to see. 

GP Services in Wales: The Perspective of Older People

In 2016, I began a programme of work to look at older people’s experiences of 
accessing and using GP services, to identify good practice that could be adopted 
more widely by GP surgeries and areas in which improvements were needed. 

I captured the views of over 1,600 older people and 47 stakeholder organisations – 
including Health Boards, professional bodies and third sector organisations – on a 
range of matters related to GP services and used this evidence as the basis for my 
GP Services in Wales: The Perspective of Older People report. 

The report made clear the significant and unacceptable variations older people face 
when accessing GP services, in particular issues relating to appointments booking 
processes, the accessibility of GP surgeries and the surgery environment, the time 
available for appointments, and communication and privacy. These issues can 
create unnecessary challenges and barriers that may prevent older people from 
accessing GP services or push them towards accessing other less appropriate 
unscheduled care services, which can have a negative impact upon their health and 
wellbeing.

Alongside my report, I also used my powers under the Commissioner for Older 
People (Wales) Act to issue formal guidance to Health Boards to provide support in 
addressing the issues and concerns shared by older people. The guidance, which 
Health Boards must have regard to when discharging their functions, included 
examples of good practice and is designed as a developmental tool to support 
Health Boards, service directors and practice managers as they make changes to 
service design and delivery. 

The report and guidance were welcomed by a number of key organisations working 
to improve health services in Wales, including Community Health Councils, the 
Royal College of Nursing, the Royal College of GPs, the Royal Pharmaceutical 
Society and the Chartered Society of Physiotherapists. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 31



23       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

In welcoming the report and guidance, Healthcare Inspectorate Wales also 
confirmed that they will use their GP inspection programme to determine how well 
Health Boards have understood and are acting upon their responsibilities, as set out 
in the guidance. 

Similarly, the Cabinet Secretary for Health, Well-being and Sport confirmed that he 
welcomed the report and would be writing to Health Boards to encourage them to 
use the findings and that the newly established Primary Care Board will consider 
the report when looking at areas in which an all-Wales approach will be helpful. 
He also confirmed that the report will be used to inform the development of Welsh 
Government policy relating to primary care.  

Care Home Top Up Fees

During 2015-16, I received a number of enquiries from older people and their 
families relating to requests from care home providers for ‘third party payments’ 
towards the costs of care (when an individual receives funding from a Local 
Authority or Health Board), or charges for ‘additional services’. Whilst these charges 
are governed by regulations and are very different to each other, I was informed that 
both were being referred to colloquially as ‘top-up fees’. 

In addition to confusion about what these additional payments were for, older people 
also shared with me their concerns that they would be forced to move to another 
care home if they (or their families) had been unable to meet such charges. 

In light of these concerns, in March 2016 I wrote to all care home providers in 
Wales, as well as Local Authority and Health Board Commissioners, clearly outlining 
my expectations on behalf of older people in situations where additional payments 
may be required. In the letters, I was clear that:

•	 	‘Top-up fees’ should never be used to pay for, or subsidise the cost of, basic 
care and should not be necessary to ensure that an individual’s needs and 
wellbeing are met. 

•	Greater clarity was needed on what individuals and their families are being 
asked to pay for. 

•	 	The Personal Expenses Allowance should never be used to pay for, or 
subsidise, the cost of care. 

I have continued to listen to the voices and experiences of older people and their 
families relating to this matter to ensure that older people living in care homes in 
Wales do not feel that they are being treated unfairly or disproportionately and 
negatively impacted by the system of paying for care within care homes. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 32



24       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Annual Quality Statements

As Commissioner, I have been clear that Health Boards must have a fundamental 
grasp on the safety, effectiveness and quality of their services, with the views of 
patients and staff integral to this understanding. Furthermore, they should be able to 
provide the public with assurances about the standards they have a right to expect: 
either that care is acceptable or that areas for improvement are recognised and 
improvements are being delivered. 

Annual Quality Statements are published by Health Boards to provide these 
assurances to the general public about the quality of care delivered by our health 
services. Their publication ensures that Health Boards are being open and 
transparent about their services and standards of care, including areas in which 
improvements are needed. 

In order to ensure that the 2013-14 Annual Quality Statements were as clear and 
accessible as possible, I provided guidance to Health Boards at a number of all-
Wales learning events, and through the 1000 Lives ‘how to’ Communications Guide. 

When I reviewed the statements in Autumn 2014, it was clear that a great deal of 
work had been undertaken to improve they ways in which key information was being 
communicated to the public. There were, however, a number of areas that needed 
significant improvement, in particular how the patient voice and experience was 
being used to influence service delivery. 

I subsequently met with Health Boards and provided a detailed critique about which 
elements of their statements provided clear information and appropriate detail, 
as well as the ways in which the statements could be improved, making clear my 
expectations that my feedback would be reflected in the 2014-15 statements.

Building upon this work, in February 2016 I published a critique of the 2014-15 
Annual Quality Statements, considering the extent to which these documents were 
successfully communicating with and providing assurances to older people. 

In my critique, I was clear that whilst there was still room for further development 
and greater clarity, there had been a positive direction of travel and that my 
feedback on the 2013-14 Statements had been used in a positive and constructive 
way. I particularly welcomed the fact that a number of the 2014-15 Annual Quality 
Statements referred to a commitment to improve outcomes-based reporting on 
issues such as continence, hydration and falls. 

I also welcomed the fact that Welsh Government guidance published to support the 
publication of the 2015-16 Annual Quality Statements included references to the 
expectations I set out in my feedback and the subsequent discussions I held with 
Health Boards. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 33



25       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Review of Health Board Reconfiguration

In 2013, I issued formal guidance to all Health Boards in Wales, which set out 
the standards against which I would measure their actions when engaging and 
consulting with older people. 

Following this, I requested further evidence from all Health Boards, using my legal 
powers under Section 3 of the Commissioner for Older People (Wales) Act, to 
assure me that the interests of older people in Wales were sufficiently safeguarded 
and protected as proposals for reconfiguration were developed. I therefore 
requested evidence on the following:

•	 	The extent to which Local Health Boards were involving older people in 
discussion about decisions being made and taking their views seriously. 

•	 	Whether they took proper account of proposed changes upon older people, to 
ensure that alternative provision was appropriate and effective and was being 
used by the older people affected by the changes. 

•	 	Whether they had ensured that older people were not disproportionately 
affected by the changes. 

All Health Boards submitted evidence detailing the actions they had undertaken to 
engage with older people. I reviewed the evidence and provided feedback to each 
Health Board to support and strengthen their engagement and consultation as they 
took forward significant changes to their services. 

Where I had concerns that more could be done to strengthen engagement and 
consultation with older people, I requested further information from a number of 
Health Boards and made clear my expectation that they would pay regard to my 
formal guidance to strengthen their ongoing engagement. I also met with the Chief 
Executive of the NHS in Wales to ensure that there was national oversight of the 
areas that needed to be strengthened and acted upon.

Improving integration between health and social care

As Commissioner, I have welcomed work in recent years to improve integration 
between our health and social care systems, which is essential to ensure that older 
people can access the services and support they need. 

Following my analysis of the statements of intent published by Health Boards 
and Local Authorities in 2014, which set out the ways they would deliver greater 
integration between health and social care, I hosted an interactive workshop in April 
2015 to grow knowledge and understanding about what successful integration would 
look like, and how success could be measured. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 34



26       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

During the workshop, which was attended by colleagues working across health, 
social care, housing and the third sector, participants considered why integration 
was so important, the benefits it brings and the price of failing; what a successful 
integrated health and social care system would look like; and what indicators should 
be used to measure success. 

As a result of the workshop, participants had a far greater understanding that 
traditional measurements, which focused on systems and processes rather 
than outcomes, would not be effective in judging success, and that ongoing 
engagement with older people was essential to identify areas of concern and deliver 
improvements. There was also recognition that improved outcomes would not be 
delivered without effective partnership working with the housing sector, the third 
sector and other service providers. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 35



27       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Standing up for people at risk of harm 
and ensuring that they are safeguarded 
and protected

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 36



28       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Safeguarding Seminars and Presentations

Every year since 2014, I have held a series of safeguarding seminars across Wales 
for professionals working with and for older people across the public and third 
sectors, to grow their knowledge and understanding of the domestic abuse that is 
faced by older people. 

The seminars, which included presentations from experts working in adult 
protection, covered a number of topics, including the scale and nature of the abuse 
of older people in Wales, the links between ageism and abuse, human rights, and 
the support available for victims of domestic abuse. 

Delegates also participated in workshop sessions that explored practical ways of 
working together more effectively to deliver change and offer greater protection to 
older people. 

In 2016-17, the content of the seminars was evaluated by Agored Cymru 
and accredited with their ‘Quality Mark’, a measure of excellence for learning 
programmes, which allowed participants to earn Continuing Professional 
Development (CPD) hours. 

Over 650 delegates attended these seminars, and feedback was overwhelmingly 
positive. Those who attended stated that their knowledge about the scale, nature 
and impact of abuse faced by older people had improved and that they would 
consider what actions their organisations could implement to ensure that abuse is 
recognised, recorded and responded to in an appropriate way. 

In addition to the seminars, awareness raising presentations, which highlighted 
the abuse of older people as a key issue and set out what could be implemented 
to improve the lives of older people who are affected by abuse, have also been 
delivered at a wide range of events across Wales, reaching over 1,500 stakeholders.

Safeguarding in Hospitals in Wales

Whilst there is much good safeguarding work underway in Wales, more still needs 
to be done across our public services to safeguard and protect older people. Much 
of the assistance and support I provide to older people through my casework team 
involves issues relating to safeguarding, and many of the cases where older people 
and their families have raised concerns about safeguarding relate to hospital 
settings. 

I have welcomed the ambition of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 
2014 to improve the safeguarding of adults at risk of abuse and neglect by placing 
this on a statutory footing and creating new duties for public bodies, and therefore 
wanted to review the difference the Act is making to the safeguarding work of Health 
Boards.

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 37



29       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

I therefore wrote to Health Boards in June 2017, asking them to participate in a 
review to determine how effectively they are responding to their new duties arising 
under the Act. 

Using a questionnaire, as well as follow-up interviews with safeguarding staff, I 
gathered a wide range of information about the safeguarding work in Health Boards, 
such as changes to safeguarding teams, changes to policies and procedures, staff 
training, the ways in which alleged victims of abuse are supported and engaged 
with, access to advocacy and learning from cases. Information was also gathered 
from stakeholders from Social Services departments and Public Health Wales who 
have a detailed knowledge of adult safeguarding. 

My assessment of the responses provided by Health Boards and the Velindre NHS 
Trust formed the basis of a report – Safeguarding in Hospitals in Wales – which I 
shared with the Welsh Government and Health Boards. 

The report identified that whilst new initiatives are now underway within Health 
Boards to address the requirements of the Act, alongside a greater focus on adult 
safeguarding within core work and increased resources, a number of factors were 
potentially weakening the approaches being taken. These included a lack of national 
guidance, resulting in different approaches being taken in different parts of Wales; 
variations in reporting under the new Duty to Report within the Act; variations in 
the ways in which enquiries and investigations are undertaken; the level of training 
provided to hospital staff; access to advocacy; and the ways in which data is 
collected to measure progress. 

In sharing the report with the Welsh Government, I made clear my expectations that 
the issues identified would be addressed, and requested a written response from the 
Minister setting out what action would be taken to deal with the concerns I raised. 

Information and Guidance on Domestic Abuse: Safeguarding 
Older People in Wales

In June 2017, I published new guidance, in partnership with the Welsh Government, 
to help front-line professionals who have contact with older people – such as 
social care staff, domiciliary care workers, doctors nurses, housing officers and 
police officers – to recognise the signs of domestic abuse and provide them with 
information about the help available to protect and safeguard older people. 

The guidance covers a wide range of subjects, including the characteristics of the 
abuse faced by older people, how to recognise controlling and coercive behaviour, 
the impact of abuse and how to provide an effective response. 

I launched the guidance with the Cabinet Secretary for Communities and Children, 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 38



30       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

who reaffirmed the Welsh Government’s commitment to working closely with 
partners to protect the victims of domestic abuse and welcomed the guidance as a 
practical resource that would help professionals to work more effectively with older 
people who are experiencing domestic abuse. 

Access to Justice: Operation Jasmine and the wider legal 
context

Throughout 2013, I provided support to the families of the victims of alleged abuse 
and neglect in a number of care homes in South Wales, which was investigated by 
Gwent Police and known as Operation Jasmine. 

In June 2013, following the collapse of a key trial linked to Operation Jasmine, I 
called on the Welsh Government, on behalf of the families, to undertake an Inquiry 
as there were still many unanswered questions about who was responsible and how 
abuse and neglect on the scale alleged could have taken place. 

I therefore strongly welcomed the announcement from the First Minister that an 
Independent Review would be undertaken to ensure that the families had the 
information and answers they told me they needed. 

The families and I also expressed concerns in respect of the charges brought 
against the alleged perpetrators, reflecting concerns already raised by me regarding 
the need for the law to be improved in relation to the abuse and neglect of older 
people. In particular, I made clear the need to strengthen the law in respect of wilful 
neglect and corporate neglect. This matter was discussed in detail at a meeting 
I facilitated between the families and the Director of Public Prosecutions, Keir 
Starmer. 

As part of my work on this matter, I arranged a briefing session with MPs in 
Westminster to discuss my concerns about the gaps in adult protection law that 
often prevent access to justice for older people, and the need for these to be 
addressed. 

Following this, I also met with the Prime Minister to further raise the need for 
improved legislation, particularly in relation to wilful and corporate neglect, and 
welcomed the subsequent consultation on a new criminal charge of wilful neglect. 

Furthermore, I organised and chaired a seminar with senior public services staff – 
including Police and Crime Commissioners, the Crown Prosecution Service, Police 
Officers, Senior POVA leads and Welsh Government Officials – to set out my wider 
concerns in respect of access to justice, passporting from protection to criminal and 
restorative justice services and identify what mechanisms were available in Wales to 
address these issues. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 39



31       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Tackling the neglect of older people
An area of growing concern for me as Commissioner is the increasing number 
of cases of neglect of older people being recorded, particularly those relating to 
avoidable serious pressure sores. Through my casework and my review of many 
high-profile neglect cases in Wales involving older people, I have seen a worrying 
pattern emerging.

There is currently a frustrating lack of accountability for those who have a 
responsibility to care for our most vulnerable citizens, and I have continued to be 
clear that the criminal justice system is inadequate if it fails to hold to account those 
who neglect to provide adequate care. 

One of the criticisms of the current system, shared with me by a number of 
stakeholders I have engaged with on this issue, is that the evidential bar is set very 
high to successfully prosecute criminal cases of neglect, even when a person has 
died because of failures to provide proper care. I have therefore continued to call 
for legislation to be reviewed and amended to prevent this growing problem from 
continuing to go unchallenged by our legal system. 

Through this work, I have also been made aware that there have been delays in the 
police becoming involved in some cases of neglect involving avoidable pressure 
sores. This has often been due to some organisations failing to recognise potential 
criminality, which has resulted in opportunities to collect evidence being lost or not 
considered. 

Similarly, I have found that some basic lines of enquiry are not always considered by 
the police, as officers are not aware of their significance to a potential investigation. 
In a number of cases, my Casework team has brought these facts to the attention 
of the police, but the passage of time has resulted in lost opportunities to secure 
potential evidence or to follow lines of enquiry. Whilst this is not a criticism of the 
police, it is clear that greater awareness and information is needed on this issue. 

I therefore developed an investigative guidance document (relating to avoidable 
pressure sores) to provide police officers with relevant information to assist them 
with their investigations and support them in considering relevant and potential 
lines of enquiry. The guidance includes information that defines the different 
types of avoidable pressure ulcers, making clear that they can be the result of 
criminal negligence, and should therefore be subject to closer scrutiny by our law 
enforcement agencies. 

I have shared this with the College of Policing for their consideration in using the 
guidance as part of police training, and I am currently in discussions with the College 
about how this could be taken forward. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 40



32       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Guide to lasting powers of attorney

Working in partnership with the Office of the Public Guardian, which protects people 
who may not have mental capacity to make certain decisions for themselves, I 
produced and published An Easy Guide to Lasting Powers of Attorney in January 
2016.

The guide was developed to help people to understand the importance of having a 
lasting power of attorney to manage their finances, health and welfare, and provides 
clear and accessible information about how to register a lasting power of attorney. 
The guide also provides answers to frequently asked questions about lasting powers 
of attorney, helping to ensure that future decisions are safeguarded. 

Since its publication, the guide has been widely distributed in hard copy, through my 
office and the Office of the Public Guardian, and has been downloaded over 1,300 
times. The guide is also hosted on the Social Care Institute for Excellence (SCIE) 
website to ensure that professionals working with older people fully understand the 
benefits of a lasting power of attorney and what setting one up involves. 

Information Booklet – Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence: 
Help and Support for Older People in Wales

To raise awareness amongst the public of the domestic abuse and sexual violence 
that affects older pepple, I produced a bilingual information booklet that clearly 
outlines the kinds of abuse they face and the support available to help to stop this 
abuse, as well as providing older people and their families with contact information 
for the Live Fear Free Helpline. 

Over 25,000 copies of the leaflet have been distributed to a wide range of partners 
across Wales, including Police Forces, Health Boards, Local Authorities, Women’s 
Aid and advocacy services. 

Wales Against Scams Partnership

To raise awareness about the devastating and lasting impact that scams – in reality 
theft, deception, intimidation and coercion – have upon older people, and to ensure 
a more coordinated approach towards tackling these kinds of crimes across Wales, 
I worked with Age Cymru throughout 2015-16 to establish the Wales Against Scams 
Partnership (WASP). 

WASP brings together a broad range of partners – such as Trading Standards, Get 
Safe Online, Welsh Police Forces, the Welsh Local Government Association, banks 
and utility companies – who work together to better protect people from scams and 
make Wales a hostile place for the criminals who operate them. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 41



33       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

The WASP action plan was launched in 2016, setting out in detail the work that 
would be undertaken by partners to tackle scams and protect older people. The 
actions set out within the plan are grouped under broader headings that form the 
basis of the WASP charter, a set of commitments that each partner has signed up to 
and has agreed to take forward, which include:

•	 	Raising awareness and de-stigmatising scams
•	 	Prevention and protection
•	 	Identification and recording
•	 	Enforcement, access to justice and restoration

The action plan and charter were launched at the National Trading Standards 
Scams Team and Consumer Empowerment Alliance scams conference, which 
was held in Cardiff and attended by delegates from across the UK. This provided 
an excellent opportunity to share, with a national audience, information already 
undertaken in Wales to tackle scams and the wide range of work planned for the 
future. 

Friends Against Scams

Building upon my work to establish the Wales Against Scams Partnership, in 
October 2016 I worked in partnership with National Trading Standards to launch the 
Friends Against Scams Initiative in Wales. 

Friends Against Scams is designed to highlight the scale and impact of scams, 
challenge perceptions of why people fall for scams and inspire action to protect 
people from scammers – criminals who often prey upon the most vulnerable 
members of society. 

The launch was attended by a wide range of stakeholders from the public, financial 
and third sectors, who made pledges about what they would do to tackle scams 
in their communities and how they would raise awareness of the Friends Against 
Scams initiative. 

Following the launch, I also wrote to pubic bodies across Wales, providing them with 
information about Friends Against Scams and encouraging them to sign up and take 
part in the initiative. 

Friends Against Scams sessions are now being delivered across Wales, enabling 
organisations and individuals to learn about the different types of scams used to 
defraud and steal from people, and how to spot and provide support to a victim. 
Online learning is also available to grow knowledge and understanding amongst 
those who are unable to attend an awareness session.  

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 42



34       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Tackling Scams in Wales

Scams have a devastating and lasting impact upon older people’s lives, not only 
separating them from their savings, but also affecting their confidence and their 
dignity. As Commissioner, I have been clear that much more needs to be done to 
tackle scams in Wales.

I therefore worked in partnership with National Trading Standards during 2017-18, 
providing support and funding to enable the delivery of Friends Against Scams in 
Wales, which aims to inspire action, highlight the scale and nature of scams, change 
the perceptions of why people fall victim to scams and make scams a topic that sits 
high on the agenda at a local, regional and national level. 

This work has resulted in extensive engagement with individuals and organisations 
working across the public, private and third sectors in Wales, who have taken part 
in Friends Against Scams Training Sessions or have signed up as Friends Against 
Scams Champions and Scambassadors. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 43



35       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Tackling prejudice and discrimination

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 44



36       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Say No to Ageism Campaign

In order to challenge the stereotypes associated with growing older and to help 
to change the way that society thinks about older people, I launched my Say No 
to Ageism campaign on the International Day of Older People 2015, which not 
only made clear the impact of ageism upon older people, but also the significant 
contribution older people make to communities across Wales, worth over £1bn to 
the economy each year. 

The campaign was made up of several strands, which included a campaign video to 
challenge the myths about older people, a website hub of useful resources and an 
interactive photo gallery of ‘Everyday Heroes’ – older people highlighting the things 
they do that make a difference to older people’s lives or communities but are often 
overlooked, such as volunteering or caring. 

The campaign video was shared widely and has, to date, been viewed over 
6,500 times. The video has also been shown at a wide range of conferences and 
seminars, and is used as part of my tackling ageism training courses (see below).

Using social media to spread the campaign messages was highly successful, 
with tweets posted on the day by my office being seen over 16,000 times. The 
campaign’s Thunderclap message (social media users sign up to share a message 
at the same time) was also very effective, with a potential reach of over 180,000 
people. 

In addition, many organisations, stakeholders and politicians, including the First 
Minister, from across Wales shared their own tweets and photos to show their 
support for the campaign and spread its key message – Say No to Ageism. 

A statement of opinion was also tabled in the National Assembly for Wales by 
Gwenda Thomas AM in support of the campaign, which was signed by members 
across all parties. 

Taking Action Against Ageism toolkit

As part of my Say No to Ageism Campaign, I developed the Taking Action Against 
Ageism toolkit for older people, to empower them to challenge ageism in its various 
forms. 

The toolkit, which was widely distributed to older people across Wales, provides 
practical information and advice about how to recognise ageism – in work, in the 
media, in health and care services, and in consumer services – and sets out clearly 
the ways in which older people can challenge unfair treatment and discrimination. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 45



37       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Tackling Ageism Training 

Another key strand of my ageism campaign was a series of training seminars 
developed for professionals working on behalf of older people, particularly those 
responsible for the design and delivery of services. 

The training seminars, which built upon similar training delivered during 2013-15 that 
were attended by over 400 individuals, helped participants to understand ageism 
and its impact upon older people, whilst also exploring unconscious prejudices and 
the ways in which these can affect the design and delivery of public services. The 
training also demonstrated the importance of adopting a rights-based approach to 
service delivery and how this can lead to better outcomes for older people. 

187 professionals took part in the training during 2015-16, from organisations 
including Health Boards, Local Authorities, Social Care Services, Housing 
Associations and Carers Organisations. Feedback on the training was very positive, 
and participants made commitments to use what they had learnt within their work 
and challenge discriminatory practice within their organisation. 

A similar training course was also developed for older people and was rolled out to 
groups across Wales. This version of the training considered the issues highlighted 
in the Taking Action Against Ageism toolkit in more detail, helping older people to 
recognise when they are the victims of ageism and discrimination and how they can 
challenge ageist and discriminatory practice in public services. 10 of these training 
sessions were held across Wales, and 199 older people took part.

Declaration of the rights of older people

Since taking up post as Commissioner, I have been clear that older people often 
face unacceptable discrimination and struggle to have their basic rights recognised 
and upheld. 

I therefore welcomed the cross-party support for the call I made in December 2012 
for action to be taken to protect and promote older people people’s rights, and the 
subsequent request from the Welsh Government to Chair an Independent Advisory 
Group to consider and explore the merits of a Welsh Declaration of the Rights of 
Older People, the first of its kind in the UK. 

The Advisory Group found that a Declaration would provide a clear framework and 
standard that could be understood and used by older people to ensure that their 
rights are upheld when receiving the support and services they need to live fulfilled 
and independent lives. 

The Advisory Group subsequently worked with older people to develop a draft 
Declaration, which was based upon the issues that older people identified as most 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 46



38       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

important to them, as well as the United Nations Principles for Older Persons. The 
Declaration also clearly sets out its links to the Human Rights Act and the European 
Convention on Human Rights. 

Following a public consultation on its contents, the Declaration was launched in July 
2014, outlining what matters to older people and the rights that that they feel would 
support and protect them effectively:

•	 	I have the right to be who I am

•	 	I have the right to be valued

•	 	I have free will and the right to make decisions about my life

•	 	I have the right to decide where I live, how I live and with whom

•		I have the right to work, develop, participate and contribute

•	 	I have a right to safety, security and justice

Whilst the Declaration has been used in hospital wards and care homes as a basis 
for ensuring that older people’s rights are being upheld when care and support 
is being delivered, I have continued to work with public bodies and the Welsh 
Government to embed a rights-based approach across our public services to ensure 
that the rights of older people across Wales are protected and promoted. 

Intergenerational Work with the Children’s Commissioner 
for Wales

In recent years, a divisive narrative has emerged that has pitted our older and 
younger generations against each other, something that creates mistrust and 
misunderstanding. In reality, however, older and younger people have a huge 
amount to offer each other through sharing their knowledge and experiences, 
learning from one another and providing each other with support. 

I therefore worked in partnership with the Children’s Commissioner for Wales during 
2016-17 to bring together a set of resources to support communities across Wales in 
establishing intergenerational groups that bring younger and older people together. 

These resources included a series of videos in which older and younger people 
highlighted the benefits of being part of an intergenerational group, based on their 
own experiences, a lesson plan to help schoolchildren to think about how they could 
develop an intergenerational group in their school, and an online resources hub 
that provides a wide range of easily accessible information about how to set up an 
intergenerational group. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 47



39       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

The resources were launched at Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr in Cardiff, at 
an intergenerational session attended by pupils and older people from a local 
sheltered housing complex. During the session, the Children’s Commissioner and 
I led a lively discussion on the stereotypes associated with age and the benefits of 
intergenerational projects, before participants broke off into groups to explore the 
activities they could do together in the future. 

Since the resources hub was launched in February 2017, the videos and information 
have been accessed thousands of times, which will help to ensure that community 
groups and schools across Wales understand the benefits of intergenerational 
activities and have the information they need to set up and run intergenerational 
projects to break down the barriers between our older and younger generations. 

Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessments and 
Scrutiny: Guidance for Local Authorities

Building upon my work to make a strong case for the retention of key public and 
community services that older people often describe as ‘lifelines’, in February 2016 
I issued formal guidance to Local Authorities on undertaking Equality and Human 
Rights Impact Assessments and Scrutiny, which they must have regard for in 
discharging their functions. 

The guidance, which was developed with support from the Welsh Government 
and the Welsh Local Government Association, sets out how to undertake robust 
and thorough impact assessments and scrutiny processes that identify any 
disproportionate impact upon older people when changes are proposed, as well as 
actions that can be taken to mitigate any potential impact. 

In order to ensure an increased focus on older people’s rights throughout the 
assessment process, the guidance included a newly developed equality and human 
rights impact assessment tool, which combines an equality impact assessment with 
a human rights assessment to enable Local Authorities to undertake broader and 
more detailed impact assessments effectively and efficiently. 

To support Local Authorities to incorporate my guidance into their working practices, 
I began a series of training workshops in March 2016 (detailed below) to ensure 
that council members and officers understand and can use a rights-based approach 
when considering changes to services or making decisions. 

Equality and Human Rights Seminars

Following the publication of formal guidance for Local Authorities on how to 
undertake robust equality and human rights assessments when changes to services 
are proposed, I held a series of seminars across Wales during 2016-17 to support 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 48



40       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

council members and officers in using this guidance effectively, which were attended 
by over 100 delegates. 

The seminars explored the ways in which stereotypes around growing older and 
unconscious bias can lead to discriminatory policies and practice, and highlighted 
the instruments available that can support the decision-making process, such as the 
Equality Act, the Human Rights Act and the UN Principles for Older Persons. The 
seminars reinforced the importance of undertaking meaningful impact assessments 
– from both an equality and human rights perspective – to guide decisions, as 
well as the importance of considering alternative proposals or mitigating actions to 
address any potential issues identified by the assessment process. 

Feedback from the seminars was positive. Delegates stated that they had generated 
many new ideas and made commitments to adopt new approaches in their work 
when making decisions on community services.  

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 49



41       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Protecting and improving community 
services, facilities and infrastructure

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 50



42       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

A Thousand Little Barriers

When I began my Engagement Roadshow in 2012, many of the older people I met 
and spoke with across Wales shared their positive experiences of growing older and 
described new opportunities that had previously not been available to them. 

Others, however, even those who considered themselves to be active, resourceful 
and resilient, found that they encountered a range of barriers that make growing 
older unnecessarily harder and can make even the simplest of tasks feel like a 
constant uphill struggle. 

I highlighted the kinds of everyday challenges faced by older people in my ‘A 
Thousand Little Barriers’ report, which was published in August 2013. The report 
included quotes and case studies from older people to give them a strong voice, 
and covered a wide range of issues, including community services and facilities, 
GP appointments, hospital discharge, community transport and the blue badge 
application process. 

The report’s findings were used to guide and shape my work as Commissioner, 
in particular the establishment of my Toilets, Transport and Bins Taskforce and 
subsequent work looking at the importance of community services, facilities and 
infrastructure (see below). 

The Importance and Impact of Community Services within 
Wales

Building upon the findings of ‘A Thousand Little Barriers’, as well as the work of my 
Toilets, Transport and Bins Taskforce, I published ‘The Importance and Impact of 
Community Services within Wales’ report in February 2014. 

The report made a clear and strong case for protecting community services, which 
are not only essential to the health, wealth and wellbeing of our villages, towns and 
cities, but are also integral to the public service and public health priorities within 
Wales and the overall health of our economy. 

To gather information and to hear first-hand from older people about how important 
community services are in their day-to-day lives, I held a series of focus groups 
across Wales (in Aberystwyth, Cardiff, Carmarthen, Colwyn Bay and Llanrindod 
Wells) to enable older people to share their experiences. 

In addition to the focus groups, information was also gathered from a range of 
partner groups and organisations to provide expertise in specific areas for the report 
and supporting research evidence. Evidence was obtained from:

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 51



43       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

•	 	British Toilet Association
•	 	Bus Users Cymru
•	 	Community Transport Association
•	NIACE Dysgu Cymru
•	 	‘P is for People’ Campaign
•	 	Public Health Wales
•	 	Royal Voluntary Service
•	 	Society of Chief Librarians Wales
•	 	Welsh Government
•	 	Welsh Local Government Association
•	 	Welsh Senate of Older People

The report provided evidence of the benefits of a number of essential community-
based services and facilities, such as transport, public toilets, community centres 
and community spaces, and lifelong learning and skills. 

A common theme running across all of these areas was the importance of taking an 
asset-based approach when making decisions about the community services that 
older people often rely upon to help to keep them healthy and independent. The 
report made clear that these services should not be seen as a cost burden for Local 
Authorities, but instead should be seen as a way of investing in older people and 
supporting them to make an even greater contribution to communities across Wales, 
an approach that I have continued to promote across much of my work.

Community Services Seminars and Best Practice Guidance

Following the publication of my community services report (see above), I held 
seminars in North and South Wales for key Local Authority staff, to discuss and 
agree the most effective way forward to deliver the best outcomes for older people. 

The seminars were attended by over 150 delegates, who took part in a mixture of 
plenary and workshop sessions throughout the day. Attendees heard presentations 
from the following: 

•	 	The Welsh Government and Public Health Wales (embedding wellbeing into 
public services)

•	 	RVS (importance of community services in combatting loneliness, isolation and 
depression)

•	 	Nesta (using innovation to deliver better public services)

•	 	Older People’s Strategy Coordinators (engaging with older people and using 
their knowledge and experience more effectively)

•	 	Age Alliance Wales (the role of the third and housing sectors in delivering the 
integration agenda)

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 52



44       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

•	 	WLGA (financial pressures on Local Authorities)

•	 	Older people (experiences of using community services)

The seminars enabled delegates to share good practice and consider new 
approaches to delivering services, as well as helping them to understand why 
community services make such a difference to older people’s lives. 

Feedback from delegates was very positive, with many stating that they would share 
what they had learnt with their colleagues and would aim to take a more innovative 
approach to the planning, development and delivery of community services. 

In addition to the seminars, as part of my wider programme of work to protect and 
improve community services, facilities and infrastructure in Wales, I issued formal 
guidance to Local Authorities across Wales, using my powers under Section 12 of 
the Commissioner for Older People (Wales) Act 2006.

The purpose of this guidance was to remind Local Authorities of their duty to ensure 
full, meaningful and effective engagement and consultation with older people when 
changes to community services are proposed and key decisions are being made. 
Furthermore, the guidance also made clear the need for Local Authorities to engage 
more effectively with older people to ensure that their decisions fully consider and 
reflect older people’s needs, concerns and priorities. 

The guidance detailed the different ways in which Local Authorities should be 
engaging with older people, outlining the importance of timely engagement, reaching 
those whose voices are seldom heard and ensuring that the most effective way of 
engaging is used. 

The guidance also highlighted the importance of robustly assessing the impact 
of decisions upon older people, and the need to ensure that equality impact 
assessments are not just a tick-box exercise. 

Engagement Toolkit for Older People
Many of the older people I have met and spoken with across Wales have told 
me that they do not know how to engage with their Local Authority and often 
feel powerless when proposals are made to reduce or bring to an end essential 
community services they rely upon. Older people have also told me that they feel 
there are insufficient opportunities to express their views and that their concerns are 
often overlooked and given little attention when they do so. 

I therefore published an engagement toolkit during 2014-15, a practical resource 
to help older people make their voices heard, which was widely distributed across 
Wales. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 53



45       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

The toolkit provides practical information to help older people to engage with Local 
Authorities, including the ways in which they can influence and challenge decisions 
and the support that may be available to assist them in doing this. 

The toolkit clearly outlines what older people should expect from their Local 
Authorities, in terms of engagement and consultation, when changes to essential 
services are proposed and provides useful information about how they can get 
involved in these processes. It also provides a range of other practical resources, 
including a set of key questions and a checklist for older people to use throughout 
the engagement process, a sample letter to Local Authorities and a comprehensive 
directory of contacts who may be able to provide vital help and support. 

Aids and Adaptations
Following scrutiny of information published by Local Authorities during 2012, I found 
that there were often unacceptable delays in providing Disabled Facilities Grants 
(DFGs) to older people for home aids and adaptations and that in a number of 
cases there was a failure to meet statutory targets. This meant that older people 
were at risk of falling, being unable to return home from hospital, or having to go into 
residential care unnecessarily. The cost to individuals was unacceptable, and there 
was a consequentially high impact upon the public purse. 

I issued good practice guidance to Local Authorities, which clearly set out my 
expectations for improvements within 12 months to those who were failing to deliver. 
I included examples of good practice within the guidance to assist them in delivering 
the required improvements. 

In November 2013, I sought assurances from Local Authorities that my expectations 
were being met, in particular that minor adaptations were not being delivered 
through the DFG route, but were instead being delivered swiftly through other 
effective routes, and that mechanisms were in place to capture the ‘customer 
experience’ and use this to drive continuous improvements. I also required an 
update on how Local Authorities intended to build upon the improvements they had 
made. 

The responses indicated that significant progress had been made to improve both 
the DFG and minor adaptations systems and that there was an ongoing commitment 
to improvements. Furthermore, the information provided to me by Local Authorities 
showed that the average delivery times had also dropped substantially, from 325 
days in 2011-12 to 271 days in 2012-13. There were, however, still variations in the 
ways in which adaptations were being delivered and the finding streams that were 
being used.   

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 54



46       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Following correspondence on this matter with the Minister for Housing and 
Regeneration, and the Chair of the Communities, Equality and Local Government 
Committee, which published its own report on home adaptations in 2012, I 
welcomed the fact that the Minister undertook a review into the home adaptations 
system in Wales in Spring 2014. 

I provided extensive evidence to this review, issuing a detailed summary of progress 
made by Local Authorities to the Minister, making clear that the changes to the 
adaptations system had to address the following:

•	The standardisation of, or minimum national delivery times for, all aids and 
adaptations, including minor adaptations, regardless of the funding route. 

•	Streamlining of the various adaptation routes, using a less complex system 
that is focused on the needs of the customer and is tenure blind.

•	An accurate performance management framework covering all adaptation 
routes. 

As a result of the review’s findings, the Welsh Government made a commitment 
to set up an ‘Enhanced Adaptations System Delivery Group’ to devise a new 
adaptations system for Wales to improve delivery times and the experiences of 
individuals. I was a member of this group and ensured that the needs and interests 
of older people were considered and reflected as decisions about the home 
adaptations system in Wales were made. 

I welcomed the announcement from the Minister for Communities and Tackling 
Poverty that the new adaptations system – Enable: Support for Independent Living 
– would be rolled out in April 2016, but made clear that the success of the new 
scheme would be dependent upon ensuring it was implemented in a consistent 
way across Wales and that people’s experiences are used to drive ongoing 
improvements. 

I have continued to monitor and scrutinise home adaptations processes so that older 
people can access the support they need to adapt their homes, which is vital to 
enable them to lead healthy, safe and independent lives.  

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 55



47       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Embedding the wellbeing of older 
people at the heart of public services

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 56



48       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014

When the Welsh Government published the draft Social Services (Wales) Bill in 
2012, I welcomed its intent, but called for a stronger focus on wellbeing within the 
proposed legislation. I was therefore pleased that the Bill was redrafted with a far 
stronger emphasis on wellbeing and was renamed the Social Services and Well-
being (Wales) Bill. 

In the evidence I provided to the Assembly Committee scrutinising the redrafted Bill, 
I made clear the importance of including statutory principles on the face of the Bill to 
protect older people’s rights, and the need for greater clarity on how the Bill would 
deliver greater voice and control for older people, particularly in terms of advocacy. 

In addition to providing this evidence, I also held a stakeholder workshop 
session that brought together a wide range of social care experts and front-line 
professionals, as well as representatives from the third sector, to consider, using 
real-world scenarios, the impact that the Bill would have on the lives of older people 
and whether it would deliver upon its intent. The findings of this workshop were 
captured in a report that was shared with committee members to support their 
scrutiny of the Bill. Alongside this, I also shared briefings with Assembly Members 
to ensure that the needs and experiences of older people were fully considered 
throughout the scrutiny process and reflected in the final version of the Bill. 

I was pleased that following my extensive work scrutinising the Bill and its contents, 
the UN Principles for Older Persons were included, along with a right to advocacy 
for older people under certain circumstances. 

Once the Bill itself had received Royal Assent, the focus of my scrutiny shifted 
to the regulations that would underpin the legislation, in particular those relating 
to safeguarding, advocacy, information, advice and assistance, the assessment 
process and eligibility criteria. I formally responded to consultations relating to these 
areas and continued to engage with key stakeholders to ensure that the perspective 
of older people was fully understood and would be reflected within the regulations. 
Furthermore, I gave specific advice to the Welsh Government, at their request, 
about how the duties to offer independent advocacy should be made real through 
the regulations and deliver upon the intent set out Sustainable Social Services for 
Wales: A Framework for Action to ensure that older people have a strong voice and 
real control over their lives.

To coincide with the Act coming into force in April 2016, I also published an 
information leaflet and a Navigating Social Services Toolkit, which explain, in a clear 
and accessible way, the new rights that older people and carers have under the 
Act and the new duties placed upon public bodies. The leaflet and toolkit cover a 
wide range of areas, including access to advocacy, information and advice, needs 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 57



49       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

assessments, paying for care and safeguarding, and have been distributed to older 
people and their families across Wales.  

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

I have been a strong and vocal supporter of the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 and its aims to ensure that there is a preventative, outcomes-
focused and long-term approach to public service delivery, essential to improve the 
lives of older people. 

Following my detailed scrutiny of the legislation itself, ahead of the Act coming into 
force, I engaged extensively with Local Service Boards across Wales to ensure that 
the wellbeing assessments and wellbeing plans that would be developed under the 
Act would reflect and address the needs of older people and complement the Ageing 
Well in Wales action plans being delivered by Local Authorities. 

As a result of this engagement, I also developed formal guidance for the newly 
established Public Services Boards to support the development of their wellbeing 
plans and underpinning needs assessments, which was published in 2016 (see 
below). 

At a more strategic level, I worked with the Welsh Government to ensure that the 
national indicators used to measure the impact of the Act are outcomes-focused and 
relevant to older people. Many of these indicators, which were published in March 
2016, complement the quality of life model on which my priorities as Commissioner 
were based, with a focus on issues such as access to services and facilities, feeling 
safe at home, and loneliness and isolation. 

Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016

I welcomed the publication of the Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) 
Bill, which was designed to provide an improved statutory framework for the 
regulation and inspection of social care in Wales and the regulation of the social 
care workforce. 

In analysing its contents, however, I identified a number of areas in which the Bill 
needed to be strengthened to deliver more for older people, which I made clear 
during the pre-legislative scrutiny process and during Stage 2 and Stage 3 scrutiny. 

The concerns I raised focused on a number of issues – around fitness to own, 
workforce registration, the definition of care, integration of health and social care, 
commissioning, and the use of lay assessors as part of the inspection process – 
and I welcomed the fact that subsequent drafts of the Bill were amended to address 
these.

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 58



50       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

In addition to influencing the Act at the beginning of the legislative process, through 
scrutinising the Bill and making clear where improvements were needed, I also 
continued to shape this legislation both as a member of the Technical Group 
responsible for drafting the regulations that would underpin the Act and through 
more formal consultation responses.

My work on the regulations was focused in particular on ensuring that quality of 
life sits at the heart of the new standards of care, ensuring that proper planning is 
undertaken so that the provision of care services meets the needs of older people, 
and ensuring that better information is available so that older people and their 
families are able to judge the quality and safety of the services they depend on. 

Guidance for Public Services Boards

Under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, Public Services 
Boards (the statutory bodies created to replace Local Service Boards) are 
required to publish Local Well-being Plans, setting out how they intend to improve 
the economic, environmental and cultural well-being in their area and how they 
will deliver on the national well-being goals that will be monitored by the Future 
Generations Commissioner for Wales. 

In order to ensure that these well-being plans would deliver for older people and 
reflect older people’s needs, wishes and circumstances, I met with each of the 
19 Public Services Boards across Wales between December 2014 and July 2016 
before issuing formal guidance – Preparing Local Well-being Plans: Guidance 
for Public Services Boards – to them using my powers under Section 12 of the 
Commissioner for Older People (Wales) Act. 

Public Services Boards must have regard for the guidance, which is designed to 
support a culture shift in how services are shaped and delivered so they reflect 
the needs of an individual and do not require an individual to fit into the system. 
The guidance also makes clear the importance of placing wellbeing at the heart 
of service delivery, as well as providing helpful and practical advice for service 
providers on preparing their well-being plans. 

Feedback on the guidance was very positive, with a number of Public Services 
Boards reporting to me that they would use it to support their assessments of local 
well-being and develop their Local Well-being Plans. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 59



51       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Scrutinising Public Services Boards Assessments of Local 
Well-being

During the summer of 2017, I undertook scrutiny of the Assessments of Local    
Well-being published by Public Services Boards, a duty created by the Well-being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act. This scrutiny followed extensive work with Public 
Services Boards during 2016-17, which included meeting with each Board to advise 
them on the most effective ways of meeting older people’s needs and issuing formal 
guidance on preparing local well-being plans, which are due to be published in May 
2018.

The purpose of the scrutiny was to determine how well older people’s issues were 
reflected within the assessment documents, whether the assessments would take 
forward the prevention agenda and an ‘ageing well’ approach, and the ways in which 
my published guidance was being used by Public Services Boards in developing 
their wellbeing assessments and plans.

My overall findings were published in August 2017, along with recommendations 
for Public Services Boards on how to ensure that older people’s needs and issues 
are reflected in the local well-being plans. In addition to this feedback, I also ran 
a series of workshops for Public Services Boards during the Autumn of 2017 to 
reinforce these messages and ensure that the Boards are considering sustainable, 
preventative and long-term outcomes for older people and other groups. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 60



Ageing Well in Wales

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 61



53       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

When I took up post as Commissioner, it was clear to me that frailty and 
dependence were all too often seen as inevitable parts of growing older and that a 
more joined-up approach was needed across a range of areas to support people to 
age well. 

I therefore established Ageing Well in Wales, a collaborative partnership of national 
public, private and third sector organisations, as well as organisations delivering 
initiatives at a local level, working to improve the wellbeing of people aged 50 and 
over across five key themes:

•	 	Age Friendly Communities
•	 	Dementia Supportive Communities
•	 	Falls Prevention
•	 	Learning and Employment
•	 	Loneliness and Isolation

As part of the first phase of Ageing Well, which was launched in October 2014, 
national partner organisations worked to determine the priorities and outcomes for 
older people under each of the five themes and developed a delivery plan that set 
out a wide range of action that would underpin the second phase of the programme. 
Organisations working at a local level also came together via the wider Ageing Well 
in Wales Network, to collaborate on a range of action and share good practice. 

During this time, each of the 22 Local Authorities in Wales reaffirmed their 
commitment to the Dublin Declaration and working with Ageing Well partners to 
ensure that communities are Age Friendly. To support this work, and to ensure that 
Local Authority officers and members could learn more about Ageing Well and the 
ways in which they could become involved in the programme, seminars were held 
in Llandudno and Cardiff, attended by 85 individuals working across a variety of 
departments and portfolios. 

Furthermore, large-scale Ageing Well Network events were held in Llandudno and 
Baglan, bringing together existing Ageing Well Network members and prospective 
member organisations to share good practice and explore opportunities for joint-
working. As a result of these events, membership of the Ageing Well in Wales 
Network grew significantly, to around 400 members.   

The achievements of Ageing Well during Phase One were recognised at a European 
level by the European Innovation Partnership on Active and Healthy Ageing, 
who awarded the programme Three Star Reference Site Status for its innovative 
approach to healthy ageing and the work being undertaken across Wales to support 
people to be healthy and independent as they grow older. 

As part of Phase Two, national partners made a wide range of commitments in 
terms of work that would be delivered across the five Ageing Well themes within the 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 62



54       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Phase Two Action Plan, which was published in October 2016. Local Authorities 
also published Local Ageing Well Plans, setting out the work they would undertake 
to deliver Ageing Well priorities, which had a particular focus on developing Age 
Friendly Communities and offering greater support to people living with dementia. 

Phase Two also saw significant engagement across Wales with individuals, groups 
and organisations working at a local level to continue to grow membership of the 
Ageing Well in Wales Network, inspire action within communities and share good 
practice. 

This work included holding a series of large-scale ‘Celebrating Communities’ 
events across Wales, which brought hundreds of Network Members together to 
share their experiences, take part in interactive workshop sessions and explore 
new opportunities. Two ‘Celebrating Communities’ events were held in Bangor 
and Cardiff in late 2016, with a further five held across Wales in early 2018. These 
events have been complemented by others focusing on dementia supportive 
communities, with two held in Rhyl and Brecon in 2018. A series of Ageing Well 
Stories was also launched to coincide with these events, to not only celebrate the 
outstanding work being delivered by Ageing Well Network Members, but also to 
encourage others to take action in their own communities and establish their own 
initiatives to help older people across Wales to Age Well. 

As a result of this work, membership of the Network has grown significantly, 
and there are now over 1,600 Ageing Well Network Members across Wales 
working alongside over 70 national partners to deliver Ageing Well priorities. The 
achievements of Ageing Well during Phase Two were also recognised at a European 
level, with the European Innovation Partnership on Active and Healthy awarding the 
programme the highest Four Star Reference Site status in 2016.

To further support individuals and organisations to take action to improve the lives of 
older people across Wales, a number of useful information booklets were published 
by Ageing Well in Wales, in partnership with national partners. The guides, which 
have been widely distributed across Wales via stakeholders and Ageing Well 
partners and Network Members, present information in a clear accessible way, 
providing practical advice on a number of different topics:

•	 	A pocket guide to being dementia supportive (produced in partnership with the 
Joseph Rowntree Foundation and Alzheimer’s Society)

•	 	Making a Difference: A pocket guide to help you deal with loneliness (produced 
in partnership with the Centre for Ageing and Dementia Research, British Red 
Cross and Royal Voluntary Service)

•	 	Making Wales a nation of age-friendly communities (produced in partnership 
with the Cymru Older People’s Alliance)

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 63



55       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

•	 	A guide to being an age-friendly business (produced in partnership with the 
Cymru Older People’s Alliance)

•	 	A guide to setting up a community learning club (produced in partnership with 
the Royal Voluntary Service, the Learning and Work Institute, Men’s Sheds 
Cymru, U3A and the Cymru Older People’s Alliance)

•	 	The ‘How to Age Well: A guide to planning for a better later life’ publication 
(produced in partnership with Aneurin Bevan University Health Board and 
Positive Ageing Associates)

In addition to publishing these guides, an information card that older people can 
share with businesses in their communities to encourage them to become more age-
friendly was published in 2016. The information card briefly highlights the benefits of 
being an age friendly business, directing owners to the Ageing Well website where 
they can access further information and download the age-friendly business guide.

Furthermore, Ageing Well Cards were also published in 2018. The pocket-sized 
cards support older people, particularly those living with dementia or those with 
sensory loss, to communicate easily and effectively with businesses, public services 
and travel operators. 

Further information about Ageing Well in Wales, its work and achievements, is 
available in a more detailed Ageing Well in Wales report that will be published 
alongside this report, or by visiting www.ageingwellinwales.com. The website also 
includes a Resources Hub that includes a range of publications, self-help guides, 
good practice examples and links to other partners on a range of issues relating to 
the Ageing Well core themes.

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 64



Influencing policy, legislation and 
practice

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 65



57       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

In addition to the work described above, which often takes the form of projects 
or longer-term work programmes, my team and I also undertake a wide range of 
ongoing work with the Welsh Government and the National Assembly for Wales 
to influence policy, legislation and practice. Running across this influencing work, 
I have continued to make clear the importance of our public services listening to 
older people and engaging with them in a meaningful way, as well as the benefits of 
adopting a rights-based approach to ensure that people’s rights are upheld. 

I have met with Welsh Government Ministers and officials on a regular basis to 
ensure that they have a clear understanding of the issues that affect older people 
and how these can be addressed, or to raise concerns about areas of policy and 
legislation that are not sufficiently focused on older people and their needs. 

Similarly, I also worked with National Assembly Committee Chairs, particularly the 
Chair of the Health Committee, to highlight potential areas for scrutiny, investigation 
and inquiry. Recent inquiries into the use of anti-psychotic medication, loneliness 
and isolation, and employment opportunities for people over 50, for example, have 
allowed more detailed scrutiny of issues that I have driven up the policy agenda 
through my own work as Commissioner. 

Every year, I responded to a broad range of Welsh Government and National 
Assembly consultations, using the voices and experiences of older people to ensure 
that proposals reflect their needs and will deliver positive outcomes. 

Since taking up post in 2012, I have responded to over 120 consultations. Whilst 
many of these relate to health and social care, I have provided responses on a wide 
range of other subjects, including human rights; safeguarding; tackling hate crime, 
domestic abuse and sexual violence; housing; rural development; transport and 
community transport; employment, training and skills; financial inclusion; equality for 
transgender people; and protecting community assets.

I have also provided written and oral evidence to National Assembly Committees to 
scrutinise legislation from the perspective of older people, to ensure that committee 
inquiries capture older people’s voices and experiences effectively, and that 
committee recommendations reflect the change that they want and need to see. 

In addition to working with, and providing evidence to, the Welsh Government and 
National Assembly in the ways set out above, I have also influenced policy and 
practice through being a member of, and working in partnership with, a wide range 
of expert groups and advisory boards / panels. These include Cross-Party Groups 
on older people and ageing, dementia, fuel poverty and community transport; Welsh 
Government Advisory Groups on tackling poverty, housing, digital inclusion and 
public transport; Welsh Government Technical Groups linked to the Regulation and 
Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act; Good Practice Wales Steering Group; Money 
Advice Service Wales Forum; and DWP Strategic Partnership Board. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 66



Looking Forward

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 67



59       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

The starting point for this legacy report was my Framework for Action, the priorities 
I published in 2013 which gave a voice to the priorities that older people wanted me 
to focus on. 

On my first day in office, I made the following statement:

“As Commissioner, I exist to make a meaningful difference to the lives of older 
people in Wales. I am here for and because of older people.  One of the most 
important things I will do is speak on behalf of older people and make sure their 
voices are heard and are responded to.”

This is my final opportunity to speak out on behalf of older people, to lift up their 
voices and give them the status and profile they both deserve and have a right to. 

For many older people, Wales is a good place to grow older. As a result of legislative 
and policy changes, good practice across our public services and the determination 
of our third sector and community groups and individuals, there is now a much 
stronger focus in Wales on issues such as the prevention of ill-health and the 
maintenance of independence, violence against women and domestic abuse, 
dementia and the quality of life of older people living in care homes. 

We now have national recognition that issues such as employment opportunities, 
loneliness and isolation, falls, community facilities and amenities, are highly 
important to older people and action is now underway to begin to address these. 

I have been part of the development of all of these, and much more besides, and 
they are good beginnings. But a beginning, however strong, is not the same as 
having completed the task in hand. Ultimately, the success of legislation, policies 
and public services can only be judged by the extent to which they change people’s 
lives, by the extent to which they deliver outcomes that are real and tangible, not just 
for some but for everyone.

Throughout my work, it has been clear that our public services often struggle to 
define these outcomes, but without more work to make these explicit, it will be 
impossible to judge whether ambition and intent has become an everyday reality. 
For older people, this ambition and intent will be made real when Wales is a country 
in which:

•	 	It is safe to be older – over 40,000 people will no longer be the victims of 
domestic abuse, over 150,000 people will no longer be victims of crime in their 
own home, and neglect of older people in care homes and hospitals will be a 
thing of past. 

•	Older people will not die simply because they are poor; one in seven older 
people will not live in poverty, having to choose whether to heat their homes or 
eat. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 68



60       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

•	 	Older people do not face ageism in the workplace and are able to stay in work 
for as long as they want or need to. There are no longer 200,000 NEETs over 
the age of 60 and you are not more likely to die rather than get another job 
if you lose your job over the age of 50 and do not find a new job within six 
months. 

•	 	Older people are not so lonely and isolated that they feel their lives are of little 
value, with their mental and physical health severely undermined. Emotional 
health will be recognised as being just as important as physical health. 

•	 	Up to half a million older people don’t fall each year, with up to 50,000 suffering 
serious injury, causing many of them to never return to their own homes, 
regain their independence and former lives. 

•	 	The role of unpaid carers is fully recognised and they received all the 
assistance they need to continue caring and supporting public services across 
Wales. 

•	 	All public services professionals truly understand, have the skills to provide, 
not just good clinical care, but respectful and dignified care, delivered in a way 
that is empowering and supports people’s independence, and understands and 
reflects the needs of older people in all of their diversity and what matters to 
them.

•	 	Older people are not, and do not feel, discriminated against simply because of 
their age and as a society we recognise older people not just for what they’ve 
done and for being the tremendous asset they are, but for what they continue 
to contribute at a national and community level. Older people remain as active 
participants and contributors to their communities. Housing and communities 
are age-friendly. 

Over the past six years I have travelled the length and breadth of Wales many times 
over, meeting older people. We live in a world of labels and they have their uses, 
but older people do not want to be simply defined by their age, particularly when 
age is all too often associated with frailty and decline. Our older generations are the 
backbone of communities and families, still contributing in so many ways, including 
economically. Far from being the burden they are too often made to feel, they are 
a huge national asset. Investing in our older people is investing in our country, our 
economy and our communities. For too many older people, everyday ageism and 
discrimination, both through wider society and our public services, is both endemic 
and institutionalised. 

When you speak to older people, many are both capable and very confident at 
expressing their needs and wishes, at an individual level, they know what good 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 69



61       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

help and support would look like, and at a more strategic level, they also have a 
fundamentally good grasp of what our wider priorities in Wales should be. The 
harder the times and the more complex the issues, the more important it is that 
we root our ambition and our work to these voices, yet there is still a significant 
way to go before this wealth of knowledge sits at the heart of our priority setting 
and decision making in Wales. It is not only health and social care that matters 
to older people and this needs to be better reflected across the breadth of Welsh 
Government priorities. 

However, because of the circumstances in which they find themselves, older 
people can struggle to articulate their wishes, to make their own voices heard. Our 
independent advocacy base, and much of our third sector, is key to ensuring that 
Wales’s ambition to ensure that people have voice and control over their lives is 
achieved. Yet it is clear that these sectors struggle to keep up with the increasing 
demand being placed upon them. The more we invest in these sectors, the better 
the outcomes for individuals and the lower the overall cost to the public purse of 
providing care and support. 

Devolution in Wales has at its heart the fundamental concept of equality. This is 
often thought about across different groups of people, yet it is also a huge issue 
within the wider umbrella concept of older age. There are particular groups of older 
people who can find themselves the most disadvantaged, the most voiceless, the 
most excluded, the most powerless. Older people with disabilities such as sensory 
loss, people living with dementia, older women within BAME groups, those who 
are the victims of crime and people living in care homes can all, because of the 
cumulative impact of age and wider characteristics, find themselves excluded from 
improvements that are being made. This is wrong. Improvement must be felt by 
everyone, regardless of their personal background and circumstances. We must 
strengthen the diversity of the work taking place in Wales in regard of growing older 
and ensure that our approach to the Public Sector Equality Duties in Wales excludes 
no-one. 

All of us in public service exist to make a meaningful difference to people’s lives. I 
have seen so many examples of amazing public services delivered by passionate 
and dedicated people, it is clear that we can get it right, and we all have a vested 
interest, if we plan to grow older in Wales, in making this good practice the standard 
practice. 

This is not always easy, this can take more time than we would like, I recognise the 
many and varied resource constraints that exist. But none of this can take away from 
the fundamental accountability that sits with the privilege of leading public services 
to get things right and, just as importantly, through openness and transparency, to 
demonstrate that this is the case to the people of Wales.  

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 70



62       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

I have worked hard to give older people a voice that is respected, to ensure that 
the issues that matter to them are both recognised and acted upon. In some areas, 
progress has been significant, in others a strong beginning, but there is still so much 
to be done.

It has been a real privilege to have been the Older People’s Commissioner for 
Wales over the past six years, a time in which there has been much positive change 
for older people. I would like to thank my team, the stakeholders I have worked with 
and, most importantly, older people across Wales who have supported me and my 
work to make Wales a good place to grow older, not just for some but for everyone.

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 71



63       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 72



Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 1 / Paper 1 

Pack Page 73



Impact and Reach 
Report 2017-18

An independent voice and champion 
for older people

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee 
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 74



The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales
The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales is an independent voice 
and champion for older people across Wales. The Commissioner and 
her team work to ensure that older people have a voice that is heard, 
that they have choice and control, that they don’t feel isolated or 
discriminated against and that they receive the support and services 
that they need.

The Commissioner and her team work to ensure that Wales is a good 
place to grow older, not just for some but for everyone.

How to contact the Commissioner:
The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales
Cambrian Buildings
Mount Stuart Square
Cardiff 
CF10 5FL

Phone:	 03442 640 670
Email:	 ask@olderpeoplewales.com
Website:	 www.olderpeoplewales.com
Twitter: 	 @talkolderpeople

Accessible Formats
If you would like this publication in an alternative format and/or 
language, please contact us. All publications are also available to 
download and order in a variety of formats from our website. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 75



Contents

Foreword 04

Reaching out and listening to older people across Wales 06

Driving change for older people 12

Safeguarding and protecting Older People 20

Influencing policy, legislation and practice 25

Forward look 30

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 76



4       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Foreword
Since I took up post as Commissioner in 2012, I have met and spoken with 
thousands of older people who have generously shared so much with me – about 
their lives, their experiences, their hopes and wishes for the future. 

This year, as in previous years, these voices and experiences have continued 
to guide and shape my work as Commissioner and have been a constant and 
important reminder of why it’s just so important that we get things right for older 
people.

Because when we get things right for older people – when help and support is 
tailored to their needs, is focused on outcomes and, most importantly, listens to and 
acts upon their voices – they can remain healthy and independent and have the best 
possible quality of life, things that all of us will want as we get older. 

There is much good work and good practice underway across Wales to improve 
older people’s lives, something that I highlight and promote whenever possible – it’s 
just so important that this good practice becomes our standard practice in Wales.

But much more still needs to be done to recognise older people as the vital asset 
that they are to Wales, to uphold their rights, to protect them from harm, to deliver 
the changes they want and need to see, and to make the aspiration that underpins 
much of our policy and legislation in Wales a reality in older people’s day-to-day 
lives. 

Many of the issues faced by older people that I have highlighted and reported on 
as Commissioner have developed over considerable periods of time and there is, 
unfortunately, no quick fix to resolve them. That is why follow-up work and ongoing 
monitoring and scrutiny of policy and practice is so important – it is vital that, in a 
landscape of competing priorities and challenges, the promises made by public 
bodies to take action and deliver change are not forgotten, that reports are not 
allowed to simply sit on a shelf gathering dust. 

This has been the focus of much of my work during the past year, which has 
included extensive follow-up work linked to my 2014 Care Home Review, assessing 
whether the ambition of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act is being 
made real in terms of safeguarding older people and advocacy, and building upon 
the findings of my ‘Dementia: More Than Just Memory Loss’ report and looking in 
more detail at respite services in Wales. 

In addition to this, I have undertaken extensive further work to ensure that older 
people are safeguarded and protected, raising awareness amongst professionals, 
through seminars and published guidance, about the scale and nature of abuse 
faced by older people, how abuse can be identified and how it can be tackled.  

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 77



Impact & Reach Report 2017-18  5 

......................................................................................................................

The Ageing Well in Wales programme, which I established and is hosted by my 
office, has grown considerably during the past year: over 70 national partners and 
over 1,600 Ageing Well Network members are now delivering a wide range of work 
at both a strategic and community level against the five key Ageing Well themes 
– Age friendly communities, dementia supportive communities, falls prevention, 
loneliness and isolation, and opportunities for learning and employment. I also 
published a series of Ageing Well Stories, to not only celebrate the outstanding work 
being delivered by Ageing Well Network Members, but to also encourage others to 
take action in their own communities and establish their own initiatives to help older 
people across Wales to Age Well. 

Further information about Ageing Well in Wales, and its work and achievements, 
is available in a more detailed Ageing Well in Wales report that will be published 
alongside this report. 

I am also publishing a legacy report – ‘Driving Change for Older People: Impact 
and Reach 2012-18’ – alongside this report, which details the wide range of work I 
have undertaken to drive change for older people across Wales during my term as 
Commissioner.

It has been a real privilege to have been the Older People’s Commissioner for 
Wales over the past six years, a time in which there has been much positive change 
for older people. I would like to thank my team, the stakeholders I have worked with 
and, most importantly, older people across Wales who have supported me and my 
work to make Wales a good place to grow older, not just for some but for everyone.

Sarah Rochira
Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 78



6       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Reaching out and listening to older 
people across Wales
Direct engagement with older people across Wales has remained a key part of my 
work throughout 2017-18, allowing me to share important information about my 
role, the work I am undertaking and the ways in which I can provide assistance and 
support as Commissioner. This engagement also provides vital opportunities to hear 
directly from older people about what matters to them, the services they want to see 
and the issues that affect their lives, which helps to guide and shape my work and 
priorities.

Engagement Roadshow
My team and I met with 169 groups across Wales during 2017-18, visiting a wide 
range of settings, such as social clubs, day centres, support groups, care homes, 
forum meetings, residents’ associations and conference events, engaging with over 
3,300 older people. My team and I travelled over 19,000 miles to reach out and 
listen to older people in every Local Authority in Wales. 

To ensure that the voices of older people in all of their diversity inform and are 
reflected throughout my work, I have continued to meet with individuals from a wide 
variety of backgrounds whose voices are seldom heard. To support this essential 
engagement, I have worked with a wide range of organisations working with and 
for people with protected characteristics, including Cyfle i Bawb, Deafblind Cymru, 
the Golden Years Project (for 50+ Women from BAME communities), Men’s Sheds, 
Parkinsons UK Cymru and the Stroke Association. 

I also arranged many joint visits with Assembly Members, MPs, Council Leaders and 
Councillors, to provide older people with opportunities to have their voices heard 
and share their views and experiences directly with those who make policy and 
decisions that affect their lives. 

Wider engagement
In addition to engaging with thousands of older people across Wales through my 
Engagement Roadshow, I also worked with formal organisations that represent older 
people and their interests, such as the National Pensioners’ Convention, Active 
Wales, Cymru Older People’s Alliance (COPA) and the Ministerial Advisory Forum 
on Ageing, as well as with older people’s 50+ forums across Wales.

As part of my wider engagement, I have continued to work with Welsh public 
bodies, including Health Boards, Local Authorities, Public Services Boards, Social 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 79



Impact & Reach Report 2017-18  7 

......................................................................................................................

Care Wales, Care Inspectorate Wales and National Trading Standards, and third 
sector organisations such as Age Alliance Wales, Age Cymru, Age Connects, 
Action on Hearing Loss, Care and Repair Cymru, the Dementia Engagement and 
Empowerment Project and RNIB Cymru, to grow knowledge and understanding of 
the issues and challenges faced by older people, and discuss how services could 
be improved, through sharing information and examples of good practice. Alongside 
this work, I have also delivered keynote speeches at conferences and events across 
Wales, allowing me to highlight a range of issues that affect older people’s lives and 
reach out effectively to large numbers of stakeholders.  

Using both the English and Welsh language media in Wales allows me to not only 
reach out to large numbers of older people so they know about the work I am 
undertaking on their behalf to drive change, but also to the wider public so they have 
an understanding of the issues and challenges that affect older people’s lives and 
the action needed to address them. Throughout 2017-18, I have maintained a strong 
presence across television and radio, appearing on BBC Wales Today, ITV Wales 
News, S4C’s Newyddion, BBC Radio Wales and BBC Radio Cymru. I also secured 
extensive coverage in daily newspapers, including the Western Mail, Daily Post, 
South Wales Argus, South Wales Evening Post and South Wales Echo, as well as 
other local newspapers published across Wales. 

My work has also been covered by a number of more specialised publications, such 
as professional magazines, journals and other stakeholder publications, which helps 
to ensure that I am able to reach out to as many older people and stakeholders as 
possible to highlight key issues and share knowledge and good practice. 

Acknowledging excellence
As Commissioner, I have always been clear that there is a huge amount of good 
practice being delivered in different parts of Wales and I have met many dedicated 
individuals working across our public services whose work is making a real 
difference to the lives of older people. 

To ensure that this outstanding work is acknowledged, I not only reference it 
throughout my publications and speeches, but also formally support the RCN 
Nurse of the Year Awards and the Wales Care Awards to ensure that outstanding 
individuals working in our health and social care services are recognised and 
celebrated. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 80



8       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Casework support to individuals
My powers under the Commissioner for Older People (Wales) Act 2006 allow me 
to provide direct support and assistance to older people, which I deliver through my 
dedicated Casework Team. 

Older people and their families from across Wales contact me when they require 
support to challenge the decision-making and practice of public bodies, when they 
feel that their voices are not being heard, often in the most difficult and distressing of 
circumstances. My Casework Team offers information, advice and guidance to help 
them to negotiate complex policies, processes and frameworks, intervening on their 
behalf where necessary (subject to their consent). 

My Casework Team provided assistance and support to 366 older people and their 
families across Wales during 2017-18, many of which were protracted and complex 
in nature, particularly where safeguarding and protection issues were identified.

People contact me about a very wide range of issues, including treatment and 
care in hospital and residential care settings; financial issues such as cross-
organisational funding disputes, incorrect charging of fees, or non-payment of 
financial entitlements; housing issues ranging from accessing home adaptations, 
home safety, evictions and couples being separated; best interest decisions 
covering a range of matters; waiting times for services; domestic abuse and 
safeguarding; and failures to prosecute.  

Everyone who contacts me is unique, as are their needs and the circumstances in 
which they find themselves, and the approach I take when providing them support 
through my casework team reflects this. 

However, whilst the issues that people contact me about are unique, they are often 
underpinned by a number of cross-cutting, common themes that can create issues 
and difficulties for older people:

•	 	Public body policies and procedures can be complex and challenging to 
people unfamiliar with them, often intensifying the stress they are under and 
causing great anxiety. Inflexible processes and a lack of integrated working 
can create barriers to securing desired outcomes and leave people feeling 
that the policies are designed to benefit organisations, not the individual. Life 
rarely follows a predesigned path and older people tell me that organisational 
processes and procedures are not clear or transparent, and that issues which 
can and should be resolved quickly can go on for unacceptably long periods of 
time.  

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 81



Impact & Reach Report 2017-18  9 

......................................................................................................................

•	 	Communication is often ineffective and consultation often feels meaningless, 
leaving individuals feeling powerless and ignored. 

•	Public bodies and decision makers often do not understand the impact of 
decisions made, the ways decisions are made and the impact that they will 
have upon people’s lives, particularly the extent to which the way decisions 
are made can lead to individuals losing their sense of identity and self-worth. 
Older people all too often say that they are not treated as equal partners, 
are excluded from decision making processes, have limited and untimely 
communication and feel as if the ‘shutters’ have come down. They also 
feel that their perspective is not given sufficient weight within the decision-
making process. The issues considered by older people or their families to be 
important are often minimalized by professionals and as a consequence older 
people often experience frustration through the lack of inclusion and insight. 

•	There is little understanding, or practical application, of human rights or a 
rights-based approach, despite the duties placed upon public bodies under 
the Human Rights Act 1998 and the Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) 
Act 2014.  This often leads to poor decision making and places vulnerable 
people at risk of harm. I have been consistently clear that a full and proper 
understanding and application of a rights-based approach leads to better 
decision making, prevents harm and supports dispute resolution. Denial of 
a right to family life, free association, and liberty, as well as degrading and 
inhuman treatment, all feature in my case work.

•	Whilst there can be a fine line between poor care and criminal care, public 
bodies are not always robust enough in their referral to the police and, in 
some cases, the criminal law is not fully understood. Whilst older people do 
not automatically want this to be pursued, they do not want it excluded without 
proper consideration.  A strong sense of a desire for justice and accountability 
often runs through the issues that people raise with me, alongside a desire to 
ensure that others do not suffer the same fate.

When examining all of the themes set out above, it is clear that individuals often 
face a significant power imbalance when raising issues and complaints with public 
bodies. This is one of the reasons that the role of independent advocacy is so crucial 
to the delivery of public services within Wales. I have been consistently clear about 
the value and importance of investing in independent advocacy, which provides 
people with an independent safeguard that can support them in understanding the 
choices available to them, making decisions and representing their experiences, 
wishes and feelings to decision-making bodies, protecting their rights and 
representing their interests. The value of independent advocacy in safeguarding 
older people from harm should not be underestimated. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 82



10       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Furthermore, my casework, and the themes identified through this work, 
demonstrates that public bodies are often not good at learning from their mistakes 
or using people’s voices and experiences to underpin and drive continuous service 
improvement.

To support this kind of learning, I published my second Casebook in October 2017, 
which provides examples of the types of cases that are brought to my attention and 
sets out the themes that often underpin the issues being faced by older people. I 
also held a seminar event in Cardiff to help public bodies to better understand the 
experiences of the older people and their families who contact my casework team, 
and the ways in which public bodies could improve their responses when their 
decision-making is questioned or challenged. 

The issues and themes identified through my casework are also used to inform my 
wider work and priorities as Commissioner, and allow me to provide strong evidence 
to public bodies about the ways in which practice needs to change to improve older 
people’s experiences, supporting my wider work to influence policy and the ways in 
which public services are provided across Wales. 

The difference made through my casework
The selection of quotes below are from older people and their families I have 
supported during the past year. They highlight the difference my casework team has 
made to their lives, often in cases where others have been unable to resolve issues 
or deliver the required outcomes. 

“It gives me great pleasure to give some positive feedback to someone at 
last. I was in a quandary and at my wits end what to do. In a very short time, 
things are moving faster and I am getting the information I need, All thanks 
to the Older People’s Commissioner and [the caseworker] in particular. Many 
thanks.”

“As a result of the intervention of the Commissioner’s Caseworker decisions 
were made by the authorities which we had taken 14 months to achieve. This 
has taken away the stress being experienced by other members of the family. 
A very big thank you to all that helped in resolving the issue.”

“I would like to thank you very much for your help. I am satisfied my mother 
can now stay in the nursing home she has called home for the last five years 
at a cost she can now meet.”

“I still believe that you can tackle any problem, big or small and you persevere 
until it’s resolved. Keep being as patient and amiable as you deal with issues. 
Thank you and best wishes.”

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 83



Impact & Reach Report 2017-18  11 

......................................................................................................................

 “I am very pleased for the help you have given me, I feel safe now that there 
is someone like you to help us out. Thank you for your help.”

“Oh my goodness! I am absolutely delighted!  I cannot thank you enough; you 
have been an absolute brick.  I will sleep for the first time in months and it’s 
all thanks to you, you are an absolute gem.  You have helped me enormously 
[caseworker] and you have restored my faith in public services.”

“I cannot thank you enough... you are extremely efficient!! I haven’t got 
anywhere for six weeks and one telephone call and within a matter of minutes 
I have help. Thank you so much.”

“Yet again thanks for everything and we wish you all the very best because I 
know if it was not for you I would still be fighting and I cannot think what or 
where Mum and Dad would be.” 

“Your support has been invaluable … I didn’t think I’d ever get the care back, I 
just wanted to shout about it!”

“I would first like to say thank you for the work put into sorting out the ‘bad 
decision’ made without involving the tenants of [housing scheme]… with the 
help of [caseworker] and her team, problems were soon sorted out and now 
thanks to you we can start living a ‘normal life’ again.”

“We [family member and caseworker] put forward a strong case and following 
the meeting I’m delighted to say my mother has now been offered a flat in the 
Warden controlled block near her home. My mother is still in shock and it was 
incredible to see her crying ‘tears of joy’ for a change. As soon as she moves 
she can begin to look forward to regaining some independence as the flat is 
converted to suit someone with her disabilities and this will greatly improve 
her quality of life.”

“I am pleased to say that I had an email last evening from [the local authority] 
agreeing that they will continue funding [older person] and will cancel the 
care bills they have sent me. It has been a very stressful time for me and has 
unfortunately left me feeling depressed but hopefully now I can just get on 
with my life and contributing to [older person’s] care as best I can through 
regular visiting and showing him how much he is loved. Many thanks again.”

“Just a note to tell you that the advice from you and your office has been most 
helpful. My local authority has promised to begin a review of that particular 
bus service for better access to a Surgery. So it looks positive. The village 
grapevine is thrilled and we all say Thank you.” 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 84



12       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Driving change for older people
Care Home Review follow-up work
When I published the findings of my Care Home Review in 2014, I was clear that 
too many older people living in care homes in Wales had an unacceptable quality 
of life and that significant change was required to ensure that quality of life for older 
people was placed at the heart of our care home system, across care delivery, 
commissioning, regulation and inspection.

Following the publication of my findings, which were welcomed by all of the bodies 
subject to my Review, I sought assurances that they would take forward the action 
needed across a wide range of areas, as set out in the Requirements for Action I 
published alongside my findings, to deliver the change and improvements that older 
people and their families told me they wanted to see. 

Having received these assurances, I was clear that I would be closely monitoring 
the ways in which my Requirements for Action were being implemented, and that 
I would undertake a programme of detailed follow-up work, through which I would 
seek further evidence that progress was being made in a number of key areas. 

My ongoing monitoring work and engagement with public bodies showed that good 
progress was being made in many areas, through new legislation, regulations and 
guidance; new values-based and rights-based inspection frameworks; new training 
frameworks for social care staff; and a wide range of local initiatives. Furthermore, 
it was clear that those working across the care home sector were beginning to think 
differently about residential care, with a far greater focus on the quality of life of older 
people. 

However, I was also concerned that there did not appear to be visible action across 
Wales in relation to a number of key areas. I therefore wrote to public bodies to 
request evidence regarding the action they had taken in relation to a number of 
specific areas: 

•	 	Continence
•	 	Reablement and rehabilitation
•	 	Falls prevention
•	 	Dementia training
•	 	Befriending
•	 	Anti-psychotic medication
•	 	Medication reviews
•	 	Quality of Life and engagement
•	 	Integrated inspection, governance and transparency
•	 	Public information
•	Workforce planning and nursing career pathways

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 85



Impact & Reach Report 2017-18  13 

......................................................................................................................

Whilst I recognised that many of these areas are complex and will take time to 
address fully, I expected to see evidence of leadership, ambition and progress, 
alongside a clear understanding of why quality of life and a focus on outcomes are 
so important for older people. 

To support public bodies in providing this evidence, and to ensure they were clear 
about the type of information and the level of detail I required, I shared a ‘model 
answer’ with them, along with a set of high-level judgement criteria, which set out 
what their responses should include. Public bodies also had an opportunity to share 
examples of good practice, some of which were included within my follow-up report. 

My team and I undertook a detailed analysis of the evidence provided, looking at the 
progress made against my Requirements for Action and identifying any areas where 
further work was needed. Individual feedback was provided to each public body 
(available in full on my website) and I set out my overall findings in ‘A Place to Call 
Home: Impact and Analysis’, which was published in January 2018. 

The report made clear that whilst some positive progress had been made by Health 
Boards and Local Authorities, with a wide range of new activity underway across 
Wales as a result of my Review, many still needed to do much more to provide me 
with the assurances I needed that they will deliver the change required to fulfil the 
commitments they made in response to my 2014 Review. 

The evidence provided by the Welsh Government, however, failed to demonstrate 
sufficient progress and action in a number of key areas – such as continence care, 
falls prevention and workforce planning – where leadership and a national approach 
is needed to drive meaningful cultural change, ensure greater accountability and 
promote the more effective use of evidence-based good practice. 

Alongside the publication of my follow-up report, I wrote to the Welsh Government, 
Health Boards and Local Authorities, setting out my expectations that the feedback 
I had provided would be discussed at Board/Cabinet level and that they would 
provide a response in writing stating what further actions and commitments had 
been agreed. 

I also made clear that there needed to be a renewed focus from the Welsh 
Government, Health Boards and Local Authorities on taking meaningful action to 
deliver upon the commitments they made, and that a failure to do so will mean that 
our care home system is unable to meet the changing care and support needs of 
older people and, more importantly will mean that too many older people living in 
care homes continue to have an unacceptable quality of life. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 86



14       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Rethinking Respite for People Affected by Dementia
My ‘Dementia: more than just memory loss report’, which was published in 2016, 
gave a voice to people living with dementia and their carers, and found that, despite 
progress in recent years, there is still a lack of knowledge and understanding of 
dementia within society, and that services often lack the flexibility to effectively meet 
people’s needs, creating unnecessary challenges and barriers. 

One of the key issues highlighted within the report by people living with dementia 
and their carers was the importance of being able to access high-quality, flexible 
respite services that provided a positive experience for both the carer and the 
person being cared for and did not simply focus on breaks apart. 

Given the importance of respite, and its links to other key issues such as 
safeguarding and health and well-being, I began a programme of work in 2017-18 to 
look at issues related to respite in more detail and influence the ways in which it is 
thought about and delivered. 

In addition to reviewing the current research and literature on respite and calling for 
examples of good practice, I also undertook a series of discussion sessions across 
Wales to hear directly from people living with dementia and their carers. 

These sessions, which were delivered with support from My Home Life Cymru, were 
held in Briton Ferry, Cardiff, Chepstow, Llandrindod Wells, Pontypridd, Porthmadog 
and St. Clears. 123 individuals took part in these sessions, sharing their experiences 
of using respite services, including any challenges and/or barriers they faced 
in accessing these services, and the ways in which respite services should be 
improved. 

A wide range of topics were discussed during the sessions, including the quality, 
flexibility and choice of respite services; accessing information, advice and 
advocacy; the activities available within respite services; and other issues such as 
safeguarding, positive risk taking, building and maintaining relationships, diversity 
and transport. 

The views shared at these sessions, as well as the information gathered through 
the literature review and good practice submissions, will be used as the basis for my 
Rethinking Respite report, which will be published in April 2018. The report will make 
clear the action that needs to be taken to improve respite services and deliver the 
outcomes that people living with dementia and their carers said they want and need 
to see. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 87



Impact & Reach Report 2017-18  15 

......................................................................................................................

Access to independent advocacy
All older people should have a voice, and choice and control over their lives, and 
should be able to access the right support to make informed decisions, particularly 
in situations in which they are vulnerable. However, older people often speak to me 
about how they struggle to make their voices heard and how independent advocacy 
can make a big difference, particularly during the most challenging times.

I therefore continued a programme of work during 2017-18 looking at older people’s 
access to independent advocacy, and whether their legal rights relating to advocacy, 
introduced by the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act, are being upheld. 

As part of this work, I engaged directly with a wide range of stakeholders (60 
organisations in total) – including over 30 independent advocacy organisations, 
policy leads, third sector organisations and other bodies – as well as older people 
who have used advocacy services. Alongside this extensive engagement, I 
also undertook a detailed analysis of the relatively limited data that is currently 
available that relates to advocacy to consider what this tells us about older people’s 
experiences of accessing independent advocacy services in Wales. 

The evidence gathered through this work will form the basis of a report – ‘Making 
Voices Heard: Older People’s Access to Independent Advocacy’ – which will be 
published in May 2018. The report will explore whether or not independent advocacy 
is routinely being used as a way to secure older people’s rights and whether there 
is a consistent approach to ensuring that older people can access independent 
advocacy, particularly when they have a legal right to it. 

The report will also include recommendations for the Welsh Government, Local 
Authorities and Health Boards, setting out the ways in which awareness about 
independent advocacy could be increased across society and any ways in which 
services need to be improved to ensure that older people can access the support 
they need to make their voices heard. 

Scrutinising Public Services Boards Assessments of 
Local Well-being
During the summer of 2017, I undertook scrutiny of the Assessments of Local 
Well-being published by Public Services Boards, a duty created by the Well-being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act. This scrutiny followed extensive work with Public 
Services Boards during 2016-17, which included meeting with each Board to advise 
them on the most effective ways of meeting older people’s needs and issuing formal 
guidance on preparing local well-being plans, which are due to be published in May 
2018.

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 88



16       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

The purpose of the scrutiny was to determine how well older people’s issues were 
reflected within the assessment documents, whether the assessments would take 
forward the prevention agenda and an ‘ageing well’ approach, and the ways in which 
my published guidance was being used by Public Services Boards in developing 
their wellbeing assessments and plans.

My overall findings were published in August 2017, along with recommendations 
for Public Services Boards on how to ensure that older people’s needs and issues 
are reflected in the local well-being plans. In addition to this feedback, I also ran 
a series of workshops for Public Services Boards during the Autumn of 2017 to 
reinforce these messages and ensure that the Boards are considering sustainable, 
preventative and long-term outcomes for older people and other groups.

Ageing Well in Wales
Delivery of Phase Two of Ageing Well in Wales – the national partnership 
programme to improve the health and well-being of people aged 50+ in Wales – 
continued throughout 2017-18, with a wide range of action across the programme’s 
five priority areas (Age Friendly Communities, Dementia Supportive Communities, 
Falls Prevention, Learning and Employment and Loneliness and Isolation).

At a strategic level, over 70 Ageing Well partners from across the public, private and 
third sectors have continued work at a national level to deliver on the commitments 
set out in the Ageing Well Phase Two Action Plan, which has strengthened the 
profile of, and action underway within, the five priority areas. 

Work also continued at a Local Authority level, led by Older People’s Strategy 
Coordinators, to deliver the action set out in the Ageing Well Plans that were 
published by Local Authorities in 2016, which was supported by three workshop 
sessions held in Autumn 2017 which provided opportunities to work with Local 
Authority officers and council members to explore the most effective ways of taking 
forward Ageing Well priorities.  

Significant work was undertaken at a community level during 2017-18, and around 
1,500 Community Network members are now working on initiatives to make Wales 
a better place to grow older and helping to establish age friendly and dementia 
supportive communities in villages, towns and cities across Wales. 

To support this work, Ageing Well held five large ‘Celebrating Communities’ events 
across Wales during early 2018 to inspire people to take action and encourage 
partnership working. The events were attended by over 500 delegates and brought 
together partners working at all levels to share and learn from good practice, and 
discuss new ideas and solutions to help to empower older people and ensure that 
our communities support people of all ages. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 89



Impact & Reach Report 2017-18  17 

......................................................................................................................

In addition to this, Ageing Well in Wales published a ‘How to Age Well’ guide for 
older people, which provided useful information and tips about growing older, as 
well as a series of Ageing Well Cards, which support older people, particularly those 
with dementia and/or sensory loss, to communicate their needs discretely and 
effectively with people working in shops and on public transport. In March 2018, I 
also published a collection of ‘Ageing Well Stories’, which not only celebrates the 
amazing and innovative work being delivered locally for older people that is making 
a big difference to their lives, but also aims to inspire others to take action in their 
own communities and establish their own initiatives to help older people across 
Wales to age well. 

Some of the key developments and successes delivered under each of the Ageing 
Well in Wales themes are set out below.

Age Friendly Communities

•	 	Ageing Well has continued to support and promote good practice in 
establishing Age Friendly Communities across Wales and Leeswood/
Pontyblyddyn in Flintshire is the latest community to be awarded age friendly 
status. This follows other age-friendly work undertaken in Fishguard and 
Goodwick and Milford Haven as part of the Volunteering Matters ‘Rural 
Wisdom’ project. In line with the ‘Dublin Declaration’, all Local Authorities are 
developing age-friendly practices in communities across Wales.

•	 	Ageing Well supported the development of the Age-Friendly Culture Network, 
a new national initiative launched in collaboration with Age Cymru, Arts Council 
Wales, Gwanwyn and Amgueddfa Cymru - National Museum Wales, which 
was formally launched in September 2017. The network brings together 
individuals and organisations from arts, culture and heritage sectors from all 
over Wales to share skills, knowledge and good practice and helps to develop 
innovative and practical ways to better engage with older people and improve 
their quality of life and wellbeing. Actions are already in place to establish age 
and dementia friendly museums and galleries across Wales.

Dementia Supportive Communities

•	 	Ageing Well in Wales supported, promoted and worked with the Alzheimer’s 
Society to establish dementia friendly places across Wales. There are now 
over fifty villages, towns, cities and national organisations in Wales that are 
recognised as dementia friendly, with more working towards achieving this 
status.

•	 	Copies of the Ageing Well in Wales Pocket Guide to Dementia –which provides 
a wide range of information to older people and their families, as well as details 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 90



18       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

of organisations that can provide help and support – were distributed across 
Wales through Ageing Well partners. 

•	 	The experiences of Ageing Well partners and Community Network members 
were used to inform the Commissioner’s response to the Welsh Government’s 
consultation on the Dementia Action Plan for Wales 2018-2022, and her 
subsequent work to influence its contents as a member of the Dementia 
Strategy Task and Finish Group. Ageing Well partners active in establishing 
dementia supportive communities also took part in the Commissioner’s 
‘Rethinking respite’ work on supporting people living with dementia, their 
families and carers.

Falls prevention

•	 	Ageing Well has also continued to contribute to and encourage the work of 
the National Falls Prevention Taskforce and support local initiatives focused 
on falls prevention, such as ‘Pimp my Zimmer’ in Aneurin Bevan University 
Health Board. Ageing Well has also continued to support awareness raising 
campaigns, publications and other projects led by falls prevention partners 
such as Care and Repair, Age Cymru, Public Health Wales, 1000 Lives 
Improvement Programme and the Chartered Society of Physiotherapy.

•	 	Further work was undertaken by Ageing Well in Wales to promote the ‘Steady 
On, Stay SAFE’ campaign, which uses a range of resources and materials 
to highlight simple ways in which the risk of falling can be reduced and to 
publicise local projects and initiatives that reduce falls, such as shoe fitting, nail 
cutting services, eye care and walking clubs. 

Opportunities for learning and employment

•	 	Ageing Well has continued to influence the Welsh Government’s work on all-
age apprenticeships and the all-age Employability Plan, published in March 
2017. Ageing Well has also continued to input into and support the ‘No Best 
Before Date’ awareness raising campaign, helping to challenge ageism in the 
workplace and promote the benefits of age-diverse workplaces. 

•	 	Work has also continued to support other key partners, such as the Learning 
and Work Institute, TUC Wales, Adult Learning Wales and Business in the 
Community to deliver a range of action linked to learning and employment. 
Examples include a workshop on employment opportunities for older people 
within the Learning and Work Institute Employability and Skills Wales 
Convention, and input into the TUC Wales ‘The menopause: a workplace 
issue’ report in 2017.

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 91



Impact & Reach Report 2017-18  19 

......................................................................................................................

Loneliness and isolation

•	 	The experiences of Community Network members and the good practice 
being delivered by Ageing Well in Wales partners was used to inform the 
Commissioner’s response to the National Assembly’s Health, Social Care and 
Sport Committee inquiry into Loneliness and Isolation, which took place during 
Summer 2017. 

•	Ageing Well in Wales supported the work of the Campaign to End Loneliness, 
which began in Pembrokeshire and Carmarthenshire in September 2017 and 
aims to address loneliness through tackling stigma and working with local 
communities to find solutions. The work continues and good practice drawn 
from the pilot projects in south west Wales will be rolled out and used by 
partners across Wales. Ageing Well has continued to support other initiatives 
to address loneliness and isolation, for example the ‘Ffrind i Mi/Friend of Mine’ 
scheme underway and led by Aneurin Bevan University Health Board to tackle 
loneliness and social isolation in south east Wales.

•	Copies of the Ageing Well in Wales Pocket Guide to Tackling Loneliness 
also continued to be distributed to older people across Wales through local 
partners.  

A report setting out the work and achievements of Ageing Well in Wales in more 
detail will be published alongside this report. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 92



20       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Safeguarding and protecting older 
people
Ensuring that older people are safeguarded and protected has remained a key 
priority for me as Commissioner and I have continued a wide range of work 
throughout 2017-18 to raise awareness about the nature of the abuse faced by over 
40,000 older people each year and the circumstances that can lead to older people 
becoming particularly vulnerable or at risk of harm. 

Alongside this, I have also continued to work to ensure that there is a systematic 
approach to identifying older people who are at risk of harm and that those who are 
abused are fully supported to access the help and assistance they need to regain 
their safety and wellbeing. 

Furthermore, I am delighted my office maintained White Ribbon status during 2017-
18 (awarded by the White Ribbon Campaign) and that my Safeguarding Lead was 
officially recognised as a White Ribbon Ambassador. 

Safeguarding in hospitals in Wales
Whilst there is much good safeguarding work underway in Wales, more still needs 
to be done across our public services to safeguard and protect older people. Much 
of the assistance and support I provide to older people through my casework team 
involves issues relating to safeguarding, and many of the cases where older people 
and their families have raised concerns about safeguarding relate to hospital 
settings. 

I have welcomed the ambition of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 
2014 to improve the safeguarding of adults at risk of abuse and neglect by placing 
this on a statutory footing and creating new duties for public bodies, and therefore 
wanted to review the difference the Act is making to the safeguarding work of Health 
Boards.

I therefore wrote to Health Boards in June 2017, asking them to participate in a 
review to determine how effectively they are responding to their new duties arising 
under the Act. 

Using a questionnaire, as well as follow-up interviews with safeguarding staff, I 
gathered a wide range of information about the safeguarding work in Health Boards, 
such as changes to safeguarding teams, changes to policies and procedures, staff 
training, the ways in which alleged victims of abuse are supported and engaged 
with, access to advocacy and learning from cases. Information was also gathered 
from stakeholders from Social Services departments and Public Health Wales who 
have a detailed knowledge of adult safeguarding. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 93



Impact & Reach Report 2017-18  21 

......................................................................................................................

My assessment of the responses provided by Health Boards and the Velindre NHS 
Trust formed the basis of a report – Safeguarding in Hospitals in Wales – which I 
shared with the Welsh Government and Health Boards. 

The report identified that whilst new initiatives are now underway within Health 
Boards to address the requirements of the Act, alongside a greater focus on adult 
safeguarding within core work and increased resources, a number of factors were 
potentially weakening the approaches being taken. These included a lack of national 
guidance, resulting in different approaches being taken in different parts of Wales; 
variations in reporting under the new Duty to Report within the Act; variations in 
the ways in which enquiries and investigations are undertaken; the level of training 
provided to hospital staff; access to advocacy; and the ways in which data is 
collected to measure progress. 

In sharing the report with the Welsh Government, I made clear my expectations that 
the issues identified would be addressed, and requested a written response from the 
Minister setting out what action would be taken to deal with the concerns I raised. 

Information and Guidance on Domestic Abuse: 
Safeguarding Older People in Wales
In June 2017, I published new guidance, in partnership with the Welsh Government, 
to help front-line professionals who have contact with older people – such as 
social care staff, domiciliary care workers, doctors nurses, housing officers and 
police officers – to recognise the signs of domestic abuse and provide them with 
information about the help available to protect and safeguard older people. 

The guidance covers a wide range of subjects, including the characteristics of the 
abuse faced by older people, how to recognise controlling and coercive behaviour, 
the impact of abuse and how to provide an effective response. 

I launched the guidance with the Cabinet Secretary for Communities and Children, 
who reaffirmed the Welsh Government’s commitment to working closely with 
partners to protect the victims of domestic abuse and welcomed the guidance as a 
practical resource that would help professionals to work more effectively with older 
people who are experiencing domestic abuse. 

Awareness raising seminars and presentations
Building upon the success of similar events held during 2014-15, 2015-16 and 2016-
17, I held four safeguarding seminars to continue to raise awareness of the abuse 
faced by older people. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 94



22       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

The seminars, which were held in Carmarthen, Wrexham, Bangor and Newport, 
covered the scale and impact of abuse, human rights, abuse within the BAME 
and LGBT+ communities, the vital role of advocacy and the support available for 
those who have experienced abuse. One of the speakers at the event in Bangor 
was transgender and provided a fascinating insight into the abuse experienced by 
transgender people. 

226 delegates attended the seminars, from a wide range of organisations working 
with and for older people. Feedback on the seminars was overwhelmingly positive, 
with praise for depth of information provided and the multi-agency perspective 
provided by the speakers. 

Other awareness raising presentations and Events
In addition to the seminars described above, I also delivered a number of awareness 
raising presentations to stakeholders during 2017-18, setting out what needs to be 
implemented to improve the lives of older people whose lives have been affected by 
abuse:

•	 	Hywel Dda University Health Board – 6 awareness training sessions (over 150 
front-line staff; further presentations will be delivered during 2018-19)

•	 	Dyfed Powys Police Public Protection Officers (15 officers)
•	 	Cardiff Council – 3 awareness raising sessions (45 social workers: further 

presentations will be delivered during 2018-19)
•	 	Royal College of General Practitioners (Wales) Conference (over 70 GP’s in 

attendance)
•	 	Action on Elder Abuse Conference – Coercive control of older people 

workshop presentation (70-80 attendees from various organisations)
•	 	Probus Group Cardiff (25 attendees)
•	 	Parish Men’s Fellowship Group, Cardiff (20 attendees) 
•	 	Cardiff & Vale University Health Board (over 70 front-line staff attended, further 

presentations will be delivered during 2018-19)
•	 	Anuerin Bevan Health Board (over 120 front-line staff attended; further 

presentations will be delivered during 2018-19)
•	 	Vale of Glamorgan Neighbourhood Watch Association (20 attendees)
•	 	Ministerial Advisory Forum on Ageing Group (20 attendees)
•	 	Cardiff University – School of Social Sciences Students (110 Students)
•	 	Vale of Glamorgan Violence Against Women & Domestic Abuse Conference 

(Around 120 attendees) 
•	 	Monmouthshire Ageing Well Executive Group (15 attendees)

Furthermore, my Safeguarding Lead also participated in the following engagement 
events to raise awareness about the scale and impact of the abuse faced by older 
people:

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 95



Impact & Reach Report 2017-18  23 

......................................................................................................................

•	 	Roundtable safeguarding meetings with the Public Guardian
•	 	ABMU Ask & Act Steering Group meetings
•	 	IPCC Stakeholder forum meetings
•	 	Live Fear Free (Domestic Abuse Helpline) Steering Group meetings
•	 	Welsh Government - Mental Capacity Act Deprivation of Liberty Safeguarding 

Group meetings
•	 	All Wales Deprivation of Liberty Safeguarding Network meetings
•	 	Gwent-Wide Adult Safeguarding Board meetings
•	 	Powys Adult Safeguarding Board meetings
•	 	Public Health Wales –  NHS Wales Safeguarding Network meetings
•	 	South Wales Police Accountability & Legitimacy Group meetings 
•	 	White Ribbon Campaign – Ambassador Stakeholder event – Cardiff
•	 	Crown Prosecution Service – National Scrutiny Panel (Crimes against older 

people)
•	 	Welsh Women’s Aid 40 years celebration event
•	 	Gwent Police Scrutiny Panel meeting to review cases relating to crimes 

against older people
•	 	Dewis Choice meetings relating to Domestic Abuse of older people
•	 	Tackling Vulnerability Together – South Wales Police event 

Further work to raise awareness of the scale and impact of the abuse of older 
people will be undertaken during 2018-19, and training courses have been offered to 
Health Boards, the Velindre NHS Trust, Local Authority Social Services teams and 
South Wales Police. 

Tackling the neglect of older people
An area of growing concern for me as Commissioner is the increasing number 
of cases of neglect of older people being recorded, particularly those relating to 
avoidable serious pressure sores. Through my casework and my review of many 
high-profile neglect cases in Wales involving older people, I have seen a worrying 
pattern emerging.

There is currently a frustrating lack of accountability for those who have a 
responsibility to care for our most vulnerable citizens, and I have continued to be 
clear that the criminal justice system is inadequate if it fails to hold to account those 
who neglect to provide adequate care. 

One of the criticisms of the current system, shared with me by a number of 
stakeholders I have engaged with on this issue, is that the evidential bar is set very 
high to successfully prosecute criminal cases of neglect, even when a person has 
died because of failures to provide proper care. I have therefore continued to call 
for legislation to be reviewed and amended to prevent this growing problem from 
continuing to go unchallenged by our legal system. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 96



24       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Through this work, I have also been made aware that there have been delays in the 
police becoming involved in some cases of neglect involving avoidable pressure 
sores. This has often been due to some organisations failing to recognise potential 
criminality, which has resulted in opportunities to collect evidence being lost or not 
considered. 

Similarly, I have found that some basic lines of enquiry are not always considered by 
the police, as officers are not aware of their significance to a potential investigation. 
In a number of cases, my Casework team has brought these facts to the attention 
of the police, but the passage of time has resulted in lost opportunities to secure 
potential evidence or to follow lines of enquiry. Whilst this is not a criticism of the 
police, it is clear that greater awareness and information is needed on this issue. 

I therefore developed an investigative guidance document (relating to avoidable 
pressure sores) to provide police officers with relevant information to assist them 
with their investigations and support them in considering relevant and potential 
lines of enquiry. The guidance includes information that defines the different 
types of avoidable pressure ulcers, making clear that they can be the result of 
criminal negligence, and should therefore be subject to closer scrutiny by our law 
enforcement agencies. 

I have shared this with the College of Policing for their consideration in using the 
guidance as part of police training, and I am currently in discussions with the College 
about how this could be taken forward. 

Tackling scams in Wales
Scams have a devastating and lasting impact upon older people’s lives, not only 
separating them from their savings, but also affecting their confidence and their 
dignity. As Commissioner, I have been clear that much more needs to be done to 
tackle scams in Wales.

I therefore worked in partnership with National Trading Standards during 2017-18, 
providing support and funding to enable the delivery of Friends Against Scams in 
Wales, which aims to inspire action, highlight the scale and nature of scams, change 
the perceptions of why people fall victim to scams and make scams a topic that sits 
high on the agenda at a local, regional and national level. 

This work has resulted in extensive engagement with individuals and organisations 
working across the public, private and third sectors in Wales, who have taken part 
in Friends Against Scams Training Sessions or have signed up as Friends Against 
Scams Champions and Scambassadors. 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 97



Impact & Reach Report 2017-18  25 

......................................................................................................................

Influencing policy, legislation and 
practice
Welsh Government and National Assembly for Wales
I have continued to meet regularly with Welsh Government Ministers throughout 
2017-18, to ensure that they are aware of and understand the issues that affect 
older people across Wales and, more importantly, that the voices of older people are 
heard. 

These meetings, alongside other engagement with the Welsh Government and its 
officials, provided opportunities for me to raise concerns about policy and practice 
that is not sufficiently focused on older people, and make clear where change and 
improvements are needed. 

I have also continued to work with the National Assembly for Wales, providing 
briefings to members ahead of debates relating to issues that affect older people. 
Furthermore, I have continued to work closely with National Assembly Committees, 
in particular the Health, Social Care and Sport Committee, sharing information and 
evidence to highlight potential areas for scrutiny and investigation. During 2017-18, I 
provided evidence to the following committee inquiries:

•	 	Poverty in Wales: Communities First – Equality, Local Government and 
Communities Committee, May 2017

•	 	Apprenticeships in Wales – Economy, Infrastructure and Skills Committee, 
June 2017

•	 	The use of antipsychotic medication in care homes – Health, Social Care and 
Sport Committee, September 2017

•	 	Local Approaches to poverty reduction: The Well-being of Future Generations 
Act and Public Service Boards – Equality, Local Government and Communities 
Committee, December 2017

•	 	Loneliness and isolation – Health, Social Care and Sport Committee, January 
2018

•	 	The cost of caring for an ageing population – Finance Committee, March 2018

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 98



26       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Consultation responses
I also responded to a broad range of consultations undertaken by the Welsh 
Government and other key bodies and stakeholders during 2017-18, using the 
voices of older people and the experiences they have shared with me to set out how 
policy and practice should be shaped to reflect older people’s needs and deliver 
positive outcomes for them:

•	 	Welsh Government – Draft Dementia Strategy, April 2017

•	 	Welsh Government – Reforming Local Government: Resilient and Renewed 
White Paper, April 2017

•	 	Welsh Government – Parliamentary Review of Health and Social Care, April 
2017

•	 	Welsh Government – Proposals to Improve Local Bus Services in Wales, May 
2017

•	 	Welsh Government Transport for Wales – Design of Wales and Borders Rail 
Service (including Metro consultation), May 2017

•	 	Social Care Wales – Review of Health and Social Care Induction Framework, 
June 2017

•	 	Welsh Government – Phase 2 implementation of the Regulation and 
Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016, July 2017

•	 	Welsh Government – Phase 2 implementation of the Regulation and 
Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016 – Workforce Aspects, July 2017

•	 	Welsh Government – Supporting People Programme Guidance and Outcome 
Framework, August 2017

•	 	Social Care Wales – Social Care Wales Strategic Plan, 2017-2022, August 
2017

•	 	Welsh Government – Draft Budget Proposals 2018-19, September 2017

•	 	Welsh Government – Services Fit for the Future, September 2017

•	 	Welsh Government – Public Good and a Prosperous Wales – Building a 
Reformed Post Compulsory Education and Training System, October 2017

•	 	House of Commons Transport Committee – Community Transport, November 
2017

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 99



Impact & Reach Report 2017-18  27 

......................................................................................................................

•	 	Social Care Wales – Transforming Care in the 21st Century, October 2017

•	 	Department of Transport – Accessibility Action Plan Consultation: A Transport 
System that is Open to Everyone, November 2017

•	 	Welsh Government – Mandatory Concessionary Fares Scheme in Wales, 
January 2018

•	 	Public Health Wales – A Major Trauma Network for South and West Wales and 
South Powys, January 2018

•	 	House of Commons All-Party Parliamentary Group for Ageing and Older 
People: Human Rights and Older People Inquiry, January 2018

•	 	Social Care Wales – Draft Practice Guidance for Domiciliary Care Workers, 
January 2018

Additional work to influence policy, legislation and 
practice
In order to ensure that the needs of older people are understood by key 
stakeholders and reflected in their work, I have also continued to influence policy 
and practice through being a member of, and working in partnership with, a wide 
range of expert groups and advisory boards / panels, including:

•	 	Welsh Government Dementia Strategy Task and Finish Group
•	 	Welsh Government Care Home Steering Group
•	 	Welsh Government Digital Inclusion Programme Board
•	 	Welsh Government Accessible Transport Panel 
•	 	Welsh Government Public Transport Users Advisory Panel
•	 	Welsh Government Financial Inclusion Programme Board, 
•	 	Welsh Government Ministerial Advisory Forum on Ageing;
•	 	Welsh Government Technical Group on Advocacy 
•	 	Welsh Government Stakeholder Group on Evaluation of the Social Services 

Act 
•	 	Welsh Government Health and Social Care Workforce Workstream Steering 

Group
•	 	Welsh Government Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016 

Stakeholder Reference Group  
•	 	National Assembly for Wales cross-party group on older people and ageing
•	 	Care Inspectorate Wales Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 

2016 Stakeholder Group
•	 	Money Advice Service Wales Forum 
•	 	‘Ffrind i Mi’ partnership board (Aneurin Bevan UHB)

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 100



28       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

•	 	Department of Work and Pensions Wales Stakeholder Board & PIP Forum
•	 	Community Transport Association Wales committee
•	 	Wales Against Scams Partnership (WASP)

Dementia Action Plan for Wales 2018-2022
Whilst I welcomed the publication of the Welsh Government’s draft dementia 
strategy as a positive step forward and acknowledged the breadth and depth of the 
issues it would potentially cover, my response to the consultation in April 2017 made 
clear that there were several areas in which the strategy needed to be strengthened 
in order to ensure it would deliver upon it’s ambition to improve the lives of people 
living with dementia, and their carers. 

Within my consultation response, I called for the strategy to be improved in a 
number of ways, including a greater focus on rights, diversity and independent 
advocacy; greater recognition of the wellbeing and needs of carers; more ambitious 
training targets; improved respite services; enhancing the role of dementia support 
workers; and improved palliative and end of life care pathways. I also made clear 
the importance of engaging with people affected by dementia in a meaningful way to 
inform the strategy.

I continued my work to influence the strategy, which was renamed the Dementia 
Action Plan for Wales 2018-2022 during its development, as a member of the Welsh 
Government Dementia Strategy Task and Finish Group, working alongside other 
key stakeholders, including people affected by dementia, to ensure that the needs 
of people living with dementia and their carers would be better reflected in the final 
version of the plan. 

Following the publication of the Action Plan in February 2018, I also wrote to 
the Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Services, making clear that whilst I 
welcomed many parts of the plan, there are a number of areas where I still have 
concerns that, despite its ambition, the plan will not deliver the outcomes that people 
living with dementia, and their carers, want and need to see. 

Social care legislation
As Commissioner, I have been clear that robust and effective regulation and 
inspection of social care is essential, not only to keep older people using social care 
services safe and protected, but also to ensure that the care and support provided to 
them is of the highest standard. 

I therefore welcomed the introduction of the Regulation and Inspection of Social 
Care (Wales) Act and the new standards of care the Act aims to deliver through its 
regulations. I was also clear that quality of life must sit at the heart of these new 

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 101



Impact & Reach Report 2017-18  29 

......................................................................................................................

standards of care and I provided detailed commentary on the Regulated Services 
Regulations to ensure that the recommendations I made in my Care Home Review 
were appropriately translated into law. 

I was pleased that many of the calls I made were reflected in the Act and supporting 
regulations, including:

•	 	Statutory guidance for service providers and responsible individuals on 
meeting service standard regulations.

•	 	A written guide to the service for residents, including information about 
healthcare services.

•	 	A duty to provide a Personal Plan for each resident, setting out how their 
needs will be met.

•	 	The inclusion of ‘chemical means’ within the definition of restraint.

•	 	A duty to provide older people with access to aids and adaptations to facilitate 
communication.

•	 	A duty for providers to produce an annual report on their services.

•	 	A duty for Welsh Government Ministers to produce a National Market Stability 
Report. 

In addition, Care Inspectorate Wales (formerly Care and Social Services 
Inspectorate Wales) is now using a new inspection regime that has a greater 
focus on quality of life and older people’s rights, and Social Care Wales has been 
established as the new social care workforce regulator, which aims to ‘make sure 
people in Wales can call on a high quality social care workforce that provides 
services to fully meet their needs’. 

The implementation of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 is also 
an area to which I have paid close attention. This Act sets out a wide range of new 
duties for public bodies to ensure a greater focus on prevention, wellbeing and 
independence in public service delivery, as well as offering older people and their 
carers greater choice and control over the care and support they receive. 

Through my ongoing casework and my engagement with the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 Stakeholder Evaluation Group, I have continued to 
work to ensure that older people are accessing and receiving care and support in 
line with the legal duties and the principles set out within the legislation.

I will continue to work with stakeholders to set out any areas of concern I have in 
relation to the effectiveness of the Act’s implementation, as well as scrutinising the 
robustness of the data available to monitor the effectiveness of the Act ahead of the 
Welsh Government’s planned evaluation.  

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 102



30       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

......................................................................................................................

Forward look
As my term as Commissioner is coming to an end in June 2018, I have developed 
an interim 2018-19 work programme that will include the following:

•	 	Publication of my Rethinking Respite for People Living with Dementia Report

•	 	Publication of my report on Advocacy Services in Wales – Making Voices 
Heard

•	 	Analysing the responses provided by public bodies following the publication 
of my Care Home Review follow-up report, ‘A Place to Call Home: Impact and 
Analysis’. 

•	 	Analysing Local Authority Wellbeing Plans

•	 	Publication of information booklets for older people on Mental Capacity and 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS)

•	 	Producing a video in partnership with Age Cymru to raise awareness of the 
importance and benefits of advocacy 

My successor will set out further work that will be undertaken during 2018-19, and 
will develop a new strategic plan to shape their priorities as Commissioner. 

I would like to take this opportunity to again say a huge thank you to my team, the 
stakeholders I have worked with as Commissioner and, most importantly, older 
people across Wales who have supported me and my work over the past six years 
to drive change and make Wales a good place to grow older, not just for some but 
for everyone.

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 103



Impact & Reach Report 2017-18  31 

......................................................................................................................

Pwyllgor Iechyd, Gofal Cymdeithasol a Chwaraeon 
Health, Social Care and Sport Committee  
HSCS(5)-14-18 Papur 2 / Paper 2 

Pack Page 104



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 107

Agenda Item 5By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	2 Older People’s Commissioner for Wales: Scrutiny of Legacy report
	Paper 1 - Driving Change for Older People
	Paper 2 - Impact and Reach Report 2017-18

	5 Forward Work Programme



